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The Taiheiyo Cement Group is Japan’s largest cement 
manufacturer and aims to become a leading Pacific Rim 
company by conducting global operations in its core cement 
business and related mineral resource and environmental 
businesses.
 To fulfill our social responsibilities as a member of the 
cement industry we seek to protect the environment and 
recycle resources by leveraging our extensive portfolio of 
recycling technologies and the ability of our cement plants to 
process and reuse large volumes of waste and byproducts.

Corporate Profile

 Financial Highlights

 Contents

(Millions	of	yen) (Thousands	of	U.S.	dollars)

CONSOLIDATED 2010 2009 2010

For the year:

Net	Sales ¥ 728,582 ¥	871,834 $ 7,830,842
Operating	Income 3,572 11,176 38,401
Loss	before	Income	Taxes	and	Minority	Interests (42,155) (32,909) (453,089)
Net	Loss (37,042) (35,371) (398,125)
At year-end:

Net	Assets 188,187 220,038 2,022,649
Total	Assets 1,155,256 1,158,086 12,416,777
Net	Loss	per	Share (39.50) (37.69) (0.42)

UNCONSOLIDATED 2010 2009 2010

For the year:

Net	Sales ¥ 278,843 ¥	316,948 $ 2,997,031
Operating	Income	(Loss)	 3,381 (6,902) 36,349
Loss	before	Income	Taxes	and	Minority	Interests (39,341) (57,985) (422,848)
Net	Loss (39,559) (55,144) (425,185)
At year-end:

Net	Assets 106,306 144,943 1,142,585
Total	Assets 628,462 614,819 6,754,759
Net	Loss	per	Share (41.81) (58.22) (0.45)
Dividends	per	Share — 2.00 —
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TO	OUR	STOCKHOLDERS

Continuing Tough Climate 
in the Japanese and 
U.S. Markets in FY2010

(Fiscal 2010, ended on March 31, 2010)

While the successive stimulus packages 

implemented to address domestic 

recession in the wake of the global 

economic downturn have had some 

positive impacts on consumer spending 

and exports, public sector spending, 

private sector capital expenditure and 

investment in housing remain weak, 

creating a difficult business climate for 

our group.

 Some indicators point to improvement 

in the U.S. economy but, where jobs, 

income levels and the housing market 

are concerned, the situation in the U.S. 

continues to be challenging. China’s 

economy continues to recover, fueled 

by brisk investment in fixed assets 

and stronger exports. In other parts of 

Asia too, economies are showing signs 

of recovery, with aggressive stimulus 

packages taking effect and boosting 

optimism.

 We anticipate that in our mainstay 

domestic cement business, both public 

and private sector demand will remain 

weak. In the U.S. too, while the economy 

is showing signs of recovery, it may well 

not pick up fully and the difficult climate 

looks likely to continue.

 As announced in the Medium-

Term Management Plan Revisions and 

Business Restructuring released on March 

30, 2010, the Taiheiyo Cement Group has 

responded to this tough business climate 

by positioning FY2011 as a period for 

laying the groundwork for sustainable 

growth from FY2012 onward, and it is 

reorganizing its business accordingly (see 

p.4). We are working on the swift and 

decisive implementation of the three 

main policies to be carried out under this 

reorganization; namely, the reorganization 

of our domestic production structure, 

organization and personnel reform, and 

domestic cement sales reorganization 

and streamlining of logistics.

 We expect consolidated sales to 

decline to ¥710 billion in FY2011 but, 

as a result of boosting plant utilization 

rates and reducing fixed costs, we 

domestic demand while exports to China 

and other countries remain strong.

 In this environment our sales totaled 

¥728,581 million, down ¥143,252 million 

from FY2009; income from operations 

was ¥3,572 million, down ¥7,603 million, 

and ordinary income was ¥148 million, 

up ¥5,028 million. Extraordinary losses, 

including business structure reform costs, 

totaled ¥46,376 million, as a result of 

which we posted a net loss of ¥37,041 

million in FY2010, down ¥1,670 million 

from FY2009.

 In view of earnings in FY2010 and the 

business structure reform costs posted 

as extraordinary losses, we have decided 

against paying a year-end dividend.

Business Structure 
Reforms Underway

Although a recovery of demand in 

Asian and other countries is spurring a 

continued rise in exports and production, 

Japan’s economy continues to suffer 

from weak capital expenditure and 

declining public sector spending, creating 

a situation that does not allow for 

forecast income from operations of ¥13 

billion, income before taxes and minority 

interests of ¥6 billion, and net income of 

¥4 billion.

 We are placing priority on bolstering 

our business foundation, particularly our 

financial footing, and seek to maintain 

a stable dividend in the future. Making 

the issue of a stable dividend our basic 

policy, we will seek to distribute income 

appropriately in line with the business 

climate and consolidated performance 

for the period concerned. Our dividend 

for FY2011 is still undecided but we will 

promptly disclose a dividend forecast 

when a decision has been made.

 We will do our utmost to respond 

to your faith in us by driving the further 

growth of the Taiheiyo Cement Group 

and we look forward to your continued 

support and cooperation.

Keiji Tokuue	President

Building Foundations for 

a New Taiheiyo Cement
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Business Structure 
Reforms

MAJOR 
FINANCIAL 
DATA

1. Reorganization of 
Domestic Production Structure

2. Organization and Personnel 
Reforms

3. Domestic Cement Sales 
Reorganization and Streamlining 
of Logistics

Swift and Decisive 
Implementation of Across-the-
Board Structural Reforms

Domestic	 demand	 for	 cement	 has	
declined	 by	 over	 5	 million	 tons	 per	
year	 since	 FY2008.	 This	 decline	 was	
particularly	 marked	 in	 FY2010,	 demand	

falling	 far	 short	 of	 the	 forecasted	 48	
million	tons	to	42.73	million	tons,	a	14.7%	
year-on-year	 decrease.	 FY2011	 looks	
likely	to	be	equally	tough,	with	continuing	
uncertainty	 and	 volatility.	 In	 the	 face	 of	
this	 unprecedented	 business	 climate	
we	 are	 implementing	 swift	 and	 decisive	
across-the-board	 structural	 reforms	
aimed	 at	 establishing	 the	 profit	 levels	

Total Domestic Cement Demand	■■
Group’s Sales	 ■

Total	Domestic	Cement	Demand/
Group’s	Sales

Net Sales	■■

Net	Sales

Operating Income	 ■■
Operating Income to Net Sales	 ■

Operating	Income/
Operating	Income	to	Net	Sales

Net Income (Loss)	 ■■
Net Income (Loss) per Share	 ■

Net	Income	(Loss)/
Net	Income	(Loss)	per	Share

Return on Equity (ROE)	■

Return	on	Equity	(ROE)

Total Assets	 ■■

Total	Assets

(1) Reduction of production capacity
Based	on	a	projection	for	annual	domestic	
cement	demand	of	about	40	million	tons	
(including	imports	of	about	700,000	tons)	
for	the	foreseeable	future	from	FY2011	
forward,	we	plan	to	reduce	production	
capacity	as	detailed	below	and	boost	our	
plant	utilization	rate	to	95%	(as	opposed	to	
80%	if	no	action	is	taken).
(i)	 Taiheiyo	Cement	plants:	Halt	cement	
production	at	the	Tosa	plant	and	the	Saiki	
factory	at	Oita	plant.
	 ➡ reduction of 2.305 million tons
(ii)	 Affiliated	company:	Halt	cement	
production	by	subsidiary	Chichibu	Taiheiyo	
Cement	Corporation.
	 ➡ reduction of 0.8 million tons
(iii)	 Five	other	alliance	companies:	Review	
outsourced	production	and	sales	contracts.
	 ➡ reduction of approx. 2.5 million tons

❚ Total reductions: 5.6 million tons
❚ Estimated improvement in earnings: 

¥8 billion/year (reducing fixed costs 
excluding personnel expenses)

❚ Costs of halting production: ¥17.5 billion

(2) Activities to be continued
We	plan	to	continue	with	the	mining,	
crushing	and	sale	of	limestone,	and	
manufacture	of	special-purpose	cements	
at	the	plants	where	cement	production	
is	to	be	halted.	We	will	also	continue	to	
investigate	the	conversion	and	use	of	
existing	equipment	for	new	applications	and	
businesses.

  

(3) Exports and overseas markets
We	will	continue	for	the	time	being	to	export	
cement	as	our	surplus	production	capacity	
allows,	but	because	exports	are	less	
profitable	than	domestic	cement	sales	we	
will	gradually	reduce	them.	We	are	building	
an	optimum	structure	to	supply	overseas	
markets	by	combining	exports	from	both	
domestic	and	overseas	plants	with	tripartite	
trade.

In	light	of	the	steep	downturn	in	domestic	
cement	demand	we	will	reform	our	
organization	and	personnel	structure	
commensurate	with	the	scale	of	our	
business.
(1) Organization

We	will	revise	the	in-house	company	system	
introduced	in	FY2005	and	implement	
fundamental	changes	to	streamline	our	
organization	in	October	2010.
(2) Personnel

We	will	seek	to	reduce	personnel	by	
encouraging	employee	transfer	and	early	
retirement,	and	aim	to	achieve	the	following	
reduction	in	employees	by	the	end	of	
September	2010.

April 1, 
2010

Sep. 30,
2010
target

Reduction

Employees 3,238 2,500 (738)

❚ Estimated improvement in earnings: 
 ¥4 billion/year
❚ Costs related to personnel reform:
 ¥13.7 billion

(1) Sales reorganization
(i)	 To	create	a	structure	commensurate	with	
the	steep	decline	in	domestic	demand	we	
followed	the	May	2009	closure	of	all	sales	
offices	with	a	reduction	in	April	2010	of	the	
number	of	branch	offices	from	ten	to	eight.
(ii)		In	conjunction	with	the	sales	
reorganization	we	will	eliminate	overlapping	
dealership	functions	and	strengthen	the	
capabilities	of	our	main	dealerships.
(iii)	We	will	implement	structural	reforms	
and	quality	management	aimed	at	
maintaining	and	stabilizing	the	ready-mixed	
concrete	industry.
(2) Streamlining logistics

(i)		 We	will	reduce	the	number	of	our	
cement	transport	ships	from	36	to	31	by	
September	2010.
(ii)	 We	will	reduce	the	number	of	service	
stations	from	123	to	99	by	March	2013.

❚ Estimated	improvement	in	earnings:	
 ¥2 billion/year
❚ Streamlining	costs: 
 ¥2.5 billion

The	costs	and	earnings	improvement	
(unconsolidated)	of	business	structure	
reform,	including	the	foregoing	three	items,	
are	as	follows:

(figures	in	¥billion)

Business 
structure 

reform costs 

Earnings 
improvement 

(annual) 
Domestic cement 
production 
reorganization 

17.5 8

Organization and 
personnel reforms 13.7 4

Logistics streamlining 2.5 2
Other — 2
Total 33.7 16

Note:	We	plan	to	book	¥31.3	billion	of	the	above	
costs	as	an	extraordinary	loss	in	FY2010

	 We	also	plan	to	include	gains	and	raise	
funds	by	disposing	of	assets	in	FY2011.

Main Policies for FY2011
We have embarked on the swift and decisive implementation of across-the-board structural reforms in the three areas detailed below to optimize our business structure 
and create the kind of robust corporate structure that will enable us to generate steady earnings despite falling domestic cement demand.

and	 business	 infrastructure	 required	
to	 maintain	 stable	 dividends,	 invest	 in	
future	 growth	 and	 improve	 our	 financial	
position.
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Ordinary Income	 ■■
Return on Assets (ROA)	 ■

Ordinary	Income/
Return	on	Assets	(ROA)

Net Assets	 ■■
Equity Ratio	■

Net	Assets/
Equity	Ratio

Net Assets per Share	 ■

Net	Assets	per	Share

Capital Expenditure	 ■■

Capital	Expenditure

Interest-Bearing Debt/Cash Flow	■

Interest-Bearing	Debt/Cash	Flow

Interest-Bearing Debt	 ■■

Interest-Bearing	Debt

R&D Expense	 ■■

R&D	Expense

Depreciation	 ■■

Depreciation

Mineral Resources Business

Make	a	strategic	shift	
from	quantity	to	quality.

(i)	 Enhance	earnings	potential	by	
	 restructuring	domestic	business	(tailor	
	 production	and	sales	structure	to	
	 cement	production	structure).
(ii)	 Expand	high-value-added	products	
	 (quicklime	business,	launch	of	new	
	 products	based	on	the	chemical	
	 resources	strategy).

R&D Structure

Enhance our R&D structure by pursuing 
research and development to continue 
expanding existing businesses and 
develop new ones.

(i)	 Cement	differentiation	strategy
	 •	Pursue	advanced	waste	recycling	
	 	 technology	to	enhance	cost	

competitiveness.
	 •	Differentiate	by	developing	high-
	 	 performance	and	other	Taiheiyo	

Cement	-	original	concretes.
(ii)	 Move	into	growth	areas	(environment,	
	 energy,	resource	recovery,	etc.).

International Business

Achieve	further	growth	of	
the	Taiheiyo	Cement	brand	
overseas.

(i)	 Enhance	earnings	potential	and	expand	
	 business	in	current	regions
(ii)	 Move	into	cement,	construction	
	 materials	and	mineral	resources	areas	
	 in	new	locations.
(iii)	Expand	trading	business	(cement,	slag,	
	 mineral	products,	etc.).
(iv)	Enhance	earnings	potential	by	licensing	
	 environmental	technologies,	including	fly	
	 ash	washing	and	chlorine	bypass	
	 systems.

Move Towards 
a New Phase of Growth

We	plan	to	set	targets	for	
a	new	phase	of	growth	by	
the	end	of	FY2011	after	completing	
restructuring,	including:

(i)	 Specific	measures	to	bolster	growth	
	 businesses	and	segments	other	than	
	 cement;	and
(ii)	 Strategic	efforts	to	identify	and	focus	
	 on	key	operations	to	leverage	synergies	
	 among	group	companies.

Environmental Business

Maximize	existing	business	and	
establish	business	models	
not	reliant	on	cement	plants.

(i)	 Maximize	waste	consumption	per	ton	
	 of	cement	by	building	a	wide-area	
	 logistics	network	and	boost	efforts	to	
	 use	waste	that	is	difficult	to	recycle.
(ii)	 Expand	efforts	to	utilize	recycled	fuel	
	 and	household	waste.
(iii)	Develop	new	environmental	businesses.

Business Structure 
Reforms

Aiming	for	sustainable	growth	
in	overseas	and	
domestic	businesses

Enhancing International Business and Other New Growth Areas

To	 shift	 to	 a	 future-focused	 business	 portfolio	 amid	 a	 decline	 in	 domestic	 cement	
demand	 we	 will	 seek	 to	 strategically	 enhance	 International	 and	 Other	 businesses	
as	 new	 growth	 areas	 as	 detailed	 below,	 and	 establish	 a	 presence	 through	 priority	
investment	of	resources	in	those	areas	from	FY2012	onward.
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Environmental Business

While	revenue	from	coal	ash	
and	waste	plastic	processing	
rose	year-on-year,	that	from	
reclaimed	waste,	sludge	and	
municipal	waste	incinerator	
ash	declined	as	a	result	
of	the	economic	downturn	
and	decreased	cement	
production.

Sales	 ¥60,916 million 
(down	¥6,594	million	year-on-year)

Operating Income	 ¥4,157million
(up	¥316	million	year-on-year)

Construction Materials Business

Sales	of	autoclaved	
lightweight	concrete	(ALC)	
and	other	construction	
materials	fell	sharply	year-on-
year	as	a	result	of	declining	
construction	spending.

Sales	 ¥88,744 million 
(down	¥21,614	million	year-on-year)

Operating Income	¥1,065 million 
(down	¥1,357	million	year-on-year)

Ceramics & Electronics Business

In	the	ceramics	business	the	
market	is	showing	signs	of	
recovery,	but	sales	of	products	
used	in	semiconductor	and	
LCD	manufacturing	equipment	
decreased	as	a	result	of	
customersʼ	scaling	back	
capital	investment	in	the	first	
half.
	 Electronics	business	sales	
decreased	in	a	market	that	is	
showing	signs	of	recovery,	but	
the	recovery	has	yet	to	gain	
momentum.

Sales	 ¥20,430 million	
(down	¥6,866	million	year-on-year)

Operating Loss ¥3,627 million	
(down	¥1,307	million	year-on-year)

Other Businesses

Our	other	businesses	include	
real	estate,	engineering,	data	
processing,	transportation	
and	warehousing,	and	sports	
facilities.
	 A	decrease	in	transporta-
tion	and	warehousing	volumes	
led	to	an	overall	decrease	
in	sales	year-on-year	in	this	
segment.

Sales	 ¥101,121 million 
(down	¥13,001	million	year-on-year)

Operating Income ¥3,098 million 
(down	¥728	million	year-on-year)

Cement Business 

Overall	domestic	cement	demand	fell	
by	14.7%	year-on-year	to	42.73	million	
tons	in	FY2010	due	to	a	decline	in	
public	sector	demand	as	well	as	a	
sharp	decline	in	private-sector	demand	
caused	by	sluggish	spending	on	plant,	
equipment	and	housing.	Imports	fell	by	
18.2%	to	750,000	tons	whereas	exports	
rose	by	3.5%	to	11.05	million	tons.
	 At	the	Taiheiyo	Cement	Group	
domestic	cement	sales	volume	including	
consignment	sales	fell	by	14.1%	year-
on-year	to	14.82	million	tons.	Export	
volume	rose	by	17.6%	to	5	million	tons.	
Domestic	cement	prices	increased	as	
a	result	of	continued	efforts	to	raise	
selling	prices.	Cement	export	prices	
were	also	increased	to	compensate	for	
the	FY2009	increase	in	fuel	prices.
	 As	a	result,	domestic	cement	sales	
declined	by	¥45,337	million	year-on-year	
to	¥351,076	million,	while	operating	
income	rose	by	¥10,033	million	year-on-
year	to	¥2,634	million.

	 Within	the	overseas	cement	
business,	cement	and	ready-mixed	
concrete	operations	in	the	West	Coast	
region	of	the	U.S.	were	affected	by	the	
continuing	slump	in	the	construction	
market.	Cement	operations	in	China	
achieved	earnings	growth	as	a	result	of	
declining	fuel	prices,	stimulus	measures	
and	other	factors.	Cement	operations	
in	the	Philippines	and	Vietnam	also	
continued	to	perform	favorably,	
underpinned	by	robust	domestic	
demand.
	 Overseas	cement	sales	declined	
by	¥44,856	million	year-on-year	to	
¥100,420	million,	and	operating	income	
fell	by	¥13,632	million	to	a	¥3,477	
million	loss.

Sales ¥451,497 million
(down	¥90,194	million	year-on-year)

Operating Loss ¥843 million
(down	¥3,598	million	year-on-year)

Mineral Resources Business

Aggregate	shipments	decreased	year-on-
year	on	weak	demand	for	ready-mixed	
concrete.	Mineral	product	shipments	
were	also	down	in	conjunction	with	
the	steel	industryʼs	falling	limestone	
demand,	but	limestone	shipments	for	
steel	began	to	pick	up	again	in	the	
second	half.
	 In	the	surplus	construction	soil	
recycling	business,	intake	volume	
decreased	as	a	result	of	lower	cement	
production.	Land	reclamation	material	
shipments	also	decreased	owing	to	the	
completion	of	shipments	for	Kansai	
International	Airport.	Shipments	for	the	
Haneda	Airport	expansion	works	also	
wound	down	in	February	2010.

Sales ¥86,478 million 
(down	¥17,549	million	year-on-year)

Operating Income	 ¥826 million 
(down	¥869	million	year-on-year)

Review of Operations
Fiscal 2010
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Based	on	our	forecast	of	domestic	cement	demand	stabilizing	at	around	40	
million	tons,	we	need	to	urgently	build	a	production	and	logistics	structure	
commensurate	with	this	scale	of	demand.	To	this	end,	we	will	streamline	
our	organization	and	implement	a	range	of	structural	reforms	to	create	a	
solid	foundation	for	a	new,	leaner	Taiheiyo	Cement.	We	will	also	consolidate	
production,	refine	our	technologies	and	take	various	other	measures	to	
reduce	costs,	establish	ourselves	as	one	of	the	industry’s	most	cost-
competitive	players,	and	boost	profits	across	the	whole	group.
	 Where	production	is	concerned,	we	will	seek	to	establish	the	optimum	
production	structure,	including	forming	alliances	with	other	companies,	and	
strengthen	our	cost-competitiveness	through	expanding	the	use	of	recycled	
resources	and	other	measures.
	 In	sales,	we	will	aim	to	ensure	appropriate	prices.	Despite	our	best	
endeavors	to	cut	costs,	ensuring	a	stable	supply	of	cement	requires	
investment	and	so	we	will	continue	do	our	utmost	to	establish	selling	prices	
that	can	support	such	investment.
	 Since	April	2010	we	have	reduced	the	number	of	our	branch	offices	
from	ten	to	eight	in	response	to	the	steep	decline	in	domestic	cement	
demand.	To	ensure	that	such	reorganization	does	not	reduce	our	sales	
capabilities,	we	will	eliminate	overlapping	dealership	functions	and	
strengthen	the	capabilities	of	our	main	dealerships.	We	will	also	implement	
structural	reforms	and	quality	management	aimed	at	maintaining	and	
stabilizing	the	ready-mixed	concrete	industry	and	bolster	our	sales	
capabilities	in	the	direct-order	market.	To	this	end	we	will	strengthen	
teamwork	between	related	organizations,	both	inside	and	outside	the	
company,	to	boost	the	sales	of	our	own	and	group	products.
	 Nurturing	talent	will	be	more	important	than	ever	to	implementing	
these	measures	and	ensuring	their	success,	so	we	will	promote	personnel	
exchanges	between	group	companies	and	endeavor	to	develop	multi-
talented	people	capable	of	coming	up	with	good	ideas	and	presenting	them	
persuasively.
	 Where	logistics	are	concerned	we	will	streamline	our	assets	to	bring	
them	in	line	with	our	production	structure.	In	conjunction	with	our	plans	to	
reduce	the	number	of	service	stations	and	cement	transport	ships,	we	will	
rethink	the	distribution	of	our	service	stations	and	restructure	our	fleet	of	
ships.
	 Through	these	policies	we	
will	endeavor	to	establish	the	
foundation	for	a	new,	leaner	
Taiheiyo	Cement	that	is	able	to	
generate	profits	even	in	Japan’s	
steeply	declining	cement	
market.

In our environmental business we have formulated both short-term and medium- to 
long-term strategies.
 Our short-term strategy is premised on our domestic cement demand forecast 
of 40 million tons. We will seek to first generate the same level of earnings as 
last year, and then further boost them. To this end we need to maximize existing 
businesses.
 Specifically, we plan to shift to the recycling of high-added-value waste, a 
particularly profitable segment within the waste recycling industry. Each year more 
and more companies are launching waste recycling businesses and competition is 
heating up. Accordingly, we aim to improve the profitability of our waste recycling 
efforts by leveraging our many technologies to actively focus on recycling waste that 
has up to now been difficult to process.
 We will also bolster our fuel waste-product recycling business. We have 
relatively greater capacity for fuel waste products than raw material waste and are 
therefore increasing our fuel waste product intake. We also hope to increase our 
intake of household waste-derived products. Compared with industrial waste-derived 
materials, the volume of which declines during recessions and otherwise tends 
to fluctuate markedly, volumes of household waste products such as municipal 
waste incinerator ash are not hugely affected by economic fluctuations and we can 
therefore count on a constant supply.
 We currently use 388 kg of waste and by-products per ton of cement but aim to 
achieve 400 kg before the end of FY2011 through the initiatives mentioned above.
 Our medium- to long-term strategy is to focus more resources on the 
development of new business models that are not reliant on our cement plants. 
Because domestic cement demand is unlikely to grow, our environmental business 
also needs to develop business models that are independent of cement. We will 
investigate possibilities for moving into new fields through M&A as well as seek to 
bolster our overseas strategies and sale of waste recycling systems.
 We will also focus on the building of a wide-area waste processing structure. 
Waste products are available in high volumes in and around large population 
centers, but this is not the case in regions like Hokkaido and Kyushu where our 
key plants are located. As a result, disparities are arising in the amounts of waste 
products and by-products available to different plants. The wide-area processing of 
waste products is currently held back by various laws but we hope to overcome such 
hurdles to establish the kind of wide-area waste product processing structure that 
we envisage and to maximize waste consumption per ton of cement produced.
 Our environmental business 
sales have increased steadily but 
are now facing the adverse impacts 
resulting from the sharp decline in 
cement demand. We will therefore 
seek to combine short-term and 
medium- to long-term strategies 
to put these businesses on a 
sustainable footing for growth and 
pursue further expansion.

Based on our business goal of achieving further growth of the Taiheiyo Cement 
brand overseas, we are positioning FY2011 as a year in which we will build the 
foundations for expanding International business by focusing on (1) enhancing 
earnings potential and expanding business at existing overseas sites; (2) moving 
into the cement, construction materials and mineral resources segments in new 
regions; (3) expanding the trading business (cement, slag, mineral products, etc.), 
and (4) enhancing earnings potential by licensing environmental technologies.
 With regard to enhancing earnings potential and expanding business at 
existing overseas sites is concerned, we are considering horizontal and vertical 
expansions in the U.S. and Vietnam as well as growing earnings in the U.S., 
China, Vietnam and the Philippines. In the U.S., we are considering expanding our 
Rillito plant or boosting cement production capacity through M&A. We will also 
seek to increase earnings potential through ready-mixed concrete and aggregate 
acquisitions, and both up- and downstream vertical integration.
 In Vietnam a second production line has been completed and we are 
endeavoring to ramp the utilization rate up to design capacity as early as possible 
while also developing downstream business.
 Regarding moving into cement, construction materials and mineral resources 
in new regions, we are targeting locations in Southeast Asia, South Asia and Africa, 
and are already investigating cement plants and exchanging technical support 
agreements. In Kenya, for example, we have been providing quality-management 
technical support for five years now, and this is helping to win recognition for our 
brand. We are also researching locations that are rich in limestone and seeking to 
develop partnerships with local cement companies in emerging economies with 
growing cement needs.
 In the trading business we aim to further expand our activities as a pioneer 
of new markets. We currently trade in cement, clinker, slag, fly ash and many 
other materials, and we are considering, for example, expanding this business by 
procuring fly ash from newly built thermal power stations overseas to combine 
with our recycling business.
 In environmental technology licensing we will push ahead with the two 
cooperation agreements reached in November 2009 under the Japan–China 
Energy Conservation and Environmental Business Promotion Model. One involves 
chlorine bypass systems that are vital to increasing waste utilization in cement 
manufacture; and the other, the processing of incineration ash from urban waste 
incineration plants into cement raw material. Interest in the recycling of urban 
waste incinerator ash is growing in 
China as urbanization advances, 
and we aim to promote model 
technology for urban cement 
plants that can be applied 
throughout China.

Fiscal Year 2011 
Business Strategies

Ryuichi Hirai,	PresidentNobuyuki Yamaura,	President

Maximizing Existing Business and Establishing 
New Business Models

Environmental Business

Building the Foundations for Expanding 
International Business

International Business
Based	on	our	business	goal	of	boosting	profitability	by	shifting	to	a	strategy	
that	gives	priority	to	quality	rather	than	quantity,	i.e.,	value-added	products,	
we	will	pursue	the	initiatives	described	below	in	our	mineral	resource	
business	in	FY2011.
	 Our	top	priority	will	be	to	enhance	group	management	and	accelerate	
efforts	to	identify	and	focus	on	the	most	promising	areas.	We	plan	to	
strategically	consolidate	our	58	affiliated	companies,	looking	closely	at	
those	that	are	not	performing	well	to	decide	whether	to	rebuild	or	liquidate	
them.
	 In	our	landfill	supply	business		we	completed	the	Haneda	Airport	project	
in	February	2010.	Since	there	are	no	other	major	landfill	projects	on	the	
horizon	we	will	focus	on	three	businesses	areas	-	aggregates,	mineral	
products	and	soil	recycling.	Of	these,	the	outlook	for	mineral	products	looks	
brighter	with	the	recovery	of	the	steel	industry,	but	aggregates	faces	a	tough	
climate	with	the	decline	in	domestic	concrete	demand.	In	the	soil	recycling	
business,	soil	treatment	requirements	have	expanded	in	conjunction	
with	the	revision	of	the	Soil	Contamination	Countermeasures	Law,	but	
we	anticipate	a	decline	in	the	amount	we	can	handle	owing	to	decreased	
cement	production.	This	makes	it	all	the	more	important	for	us	to	examine	
how	we	can	meet	the	demand	for	soil	treatment.	
	 Given	these	circumstances,	we	will	rethink	our	sales	strategies	and	
structure	for	existing	mineral	resources	business,	including	organization	and	
personnel.
	 We	will	also	reformulate	our	production-related	mineral	resources	
strategy,	focusing	on	restructuring	to	enable	mines	belonging	to	plants	
where	cement	production	will	be	halted	to	support	themselves	solely	
through	the	mineral	resources	business.
	 As	a	growth	strategy	for	our	mineral	resources	business	we	need	to	
urgently	develop	markets	for	new	materials	and	value-added	products.	
As	a	first	step	we	will	place	top	priority	on	putting	Sanyo	Taiheiyo	Lime’s	
quicklime	business,	launched	in	FY2010,	on	a	steady	footing.	We	will	also	
endeavor	to	expand	sales	of	artificial	lightweight	fill	material	and	develop	
new	applications	for	profitable	products	such	as	heavy	aggregates	and	
E-Spheres	(hollow	ceramic	spheres).	In	the	chemical	resources	business,	
rather	than	just	selling	ores	we	will	seek	to	develop	and	commercialize	
original	value-added	products	such	as	high-purity	calcium	and	silica.
	 We	are	already	investigating	
the	possibilities	for	overseas	
expansion	to	drive	business	
growth	with	focus	on	the	fast-
growing	Asian	region	and	will	be	
pinpointing	specific	locations	
and	drafting	concrete	business	
plans	moving	forward.

Hideo Fukushima,	President

Building a Structure Commensurate to 
Domestic Demand

Cement Business

Rethinking Mineral Resources Strategy to Establish 
a New Growth Footing

Mineral Resources Business

Hideo Fukushima,	President
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2009 2010 2010

(Millions	of	yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)
(Note 5)

Assets

Current assets:

Cash	and	deposits	(Notes	6,	7	and	10) ¥	61,053 ¥ 119,437 $ 1,283,719

Notes	and	accounts	receivable-trade	(Notes	6	and	10) 172,620 153,699 1,651,967

Less:		allowance	for	doubtful	accounts (1,961) (1,868) (20,080)

170,659 151,831 1,631,887

Merchandise	and	finished	goods 36,759 31,368 337,143

Work	in	process 12,362 8,084 86,891

Raw	materials	and	supplies 46,538 36,806 395,595

Deferred	tax	assets	(Note	17) 11,068 22,807 245,128

Other 27,220 30,020 322,666

365,659 400,353 4,303,029

Investments, and other assets:

Investment	securities	(Notes	6,	8	and	10) 103,154 102,956 1,106,577

Long-term	loans	receivable 3,531 3,511 37,738

Other	(Note	10) 50,677 50,060 538,054

157,362 156,527 1,682,369

Less:		allowance	for	doubtful	accounts (9,531) (8,948) (96,172)

147,831 147,579 1,586,197

Property, plant and equipment	(Notes	10	and	19):

Buildings	and	structures 490,475 487,397 5,238,577

Machinery,	equipment,	and	vehicles 807,702 808,394 8,688,673

Other 60,625 65,979 709,146

1,385,802 1,361,770 14,636,396

Less:	accumulated	depreciation (1,002,502) (1,038,313) (11,159,858)

356,300 323,457 3,476,538

Land	(Notes	10	and	14) 173,566 169,027 1,816,715

Construction	in	progress 26,474 37,778 406,033

556,340 530,262 5,699,286

Goodwill and other intangible assets 58,392 53,991 580,302

Deferred tax assets (Note	17) 29,864 23,070 247,963

Total assets ¥	1,158,086 ¥ 1,155,257 $ 12,416,777

2009 2010 2010

(Millions	of	yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)
(Note 5)

Liabilities and net assets

Current liabilities:

Short-term	loans	payable	(Notes	6,	7,	9	and	10) ¥	224,601 ¥ 223,300 $ 2,400,042

Current	portion	of	long-term	loans	payable	(Notes	7,	9	and	10) 57,773 112,149 1,205,385

Commercial	papers	(Note	6) 22,000 46,000 494,411

Notes	and	accounts	payable-trade	(Notes	6,	7and	10) 100,878 82,958 891,638

Income	taxes	payable	(Note	17) 2,292 2,848 30,610

Deferred	tax	liabilities	(Note	17) 400 535 5,750

Other	(Note	10) 76,323 85,677 920,855

484,267 553,467 5,948,696

Noncurrent liabilities:

Long-term	loans	payable	(Notes	6,	7,	9	and	10) 342,490 303,919 3,266,548

Deferred	tax	liabilities	(Note	17) 28,654 27,682 297,525

Provision	for	retirement	benefits	(Note	11) 34,215 35,413 380,621

Provision	for	directors’	retirement	benefits 1,083 793 8,519

Other	provision 		404 363 3,900

Other	(Note	10) 46,935 45,433 488,319

453,781 413,603 4,445,432

Contingent liabilities (Note	12)

Net assets (Note	13):

Shareholders’	equity:

	 Capital	stock:

	 	 Authorized:	1,977,308,000	shares

	 	 Issued:	950,300,586	shares	in	2009	and	2010 69,499 69,499 746,982

	 Capital	surplus 60,745 60,384 649,015

	 Retained	earnings 89,743 52,754 567,000

	 Treasury	stock	(11,807,411	shares	in	2009	and	9,673,928	shares	in	2010) (1,702) (961) (10,326)

Valuation	and	translation	adjustments:

Revaluation	reserve	for	land	(Note	14) 4,560 4,504 48,399

Valuation	difference	on	available-for-sale	securities 4,952 6,586 70,791

Deferred	gains	or	losses	on	hedges	 (97) 6 67

Accumulated	other	comprehensive	losses (2,567) (2,468) (26,526)

Foreign	currency	translation	adjustments (41,379) (37,116) (398,925)

Minority	interests	 36,284 34,999 376,172

Total net assets 220,038 188,187 2,022,649

Total liabilities and net assets ¥	1,158,086	 ¥ 1,155,257 $ 12,416,777

Consolidated Balance Sheets
FINANCIAL SECTION

Taiheiyo	Cement	Corporation	and	Subsidiaries	for	the	years	ended	31st	March,	2009	and	2010

The	accompanying	notes	are	an	integral	part	of	these	statements.
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2009 2010 2010

(Millions	of	yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)
(Note 5)

Net sales ¥	871,834 ¥ 728,582 $ 7,830,842

Cost of sales 717,724 599,519 6,443,667

	 Gross	profit 154,110 129,063 1,387,175

Selling,	general	and	administrative	expenses	(Notes	15	and	16) 142,933 125,490 1,348,774

	 Operating	income 11,177 3,573 38,401

Non-operating	income	(expenses)

	 Interest	and	dividends	income 2,718 1,923 20,668

	 Interest	expenses (10,713) (9,787) (105,189)

	 Loss	on	sales/disposal	of	property,	plant	and	equipment (3,466) (1,046) (11,245)

	 Gain	(loss)	on	sales	of	investment	securities (1,265) 261 2,805

	 Loss	on	liquidation	of	subsidiaries	and	affiliates (251) (27) (288)

	 Loss	on	valuation	of	stocks	of	subsidiaries	and	affiliates (7,091) (837) (8,998)

	 Provision	of	allowance	for	doubtful	accounts (1,101) (829) (8,913)

	 Equity	in	earnings	(losses)	of	unconsolidated	subsidiaries	and	affiliates (7,536) 4,069 43,730

	 Loss	on	change	in	equity	of	subsidiaries	and	affiliates (54) (158) (1,694)

	 Impairment	loss	(Note	19) (3,161) (4,782) (51,399)

	 Loss	on	business	withdrawal	(Note	20) (377) (906) (9,741)

	 Amortization	of	goodwill	in	equity (4,492) — —

	 Loss	on	movement	of	head	office (428) — —

	 Loss	on	transfer	of	business (5,439) (150) (1,615)

	 Business	structure	reform	costs	(Note	21) — (32,227) (346,373)

	 Other,	net (1,430) (1,232) (13,238)

(44,086) (45,728) (491,490)

	 	 Loss	before	income	taxes	and	minority	interests (32,909) (42,155) (453,089)

Income taxes (Note	17):

	 Current 7,164 422 4,541

	 Income	taxes	for	prior	periods 1,817 — —

	 Deferred (7,673) (6,187) (66,503)

1,308 (5,765) (61,962)

Minority interests 1,154 652 6,998

	 Net	loss ¥	(35,371) ¥ (37,042) $ (398,125)

(Yen) (U.S. dollars)(Note 5)

Per share	(Note	4	(12)):

	 Net	income

	 	 Basic ¥	(37.69) ¥ (39.50) $ (0.42)

	 	 Diluted — — —

	 Cash	dividends 2.00 — —

(Millions of yen)

Shareholders’ equity Valuation and translation adjustments

Minority 
interests

Total
net assetsCapital

stock
Capital
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Treasury
 stock

Revaluation
reserve for

land

Valuation
difference on
available-for

-sale securities

Deferred gains
or losses on

hedges

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
losses

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments

Balance at 31st March, 2008 ¥ 69,499 ¥ 60,757 ¥ 142,924 ¥ (1,690) ¥ 4,594 ¥ 10,352 ¥ (46) ¥ (1,971) ¥ 5,470 ¥ 37,701 ¥ 327,590

 Effect of changes in accounting policies 
 applied to foreign subsidiaries (12,909) (12,909)

 Net loss (35,371) (35,371)

 Dividends from surplus (4,697) (4,697)

 Reversal of revaluation reserve for land (152) (152)

 Purchase of treasury stock (75) (75)

 Disposal of treasury stock (12) 63 51

 Change of scope of equity method (52) (52)

 Net changes in items other than 
 shareholders’ equity (34) (5,400) (51) (596) (46,849) (1,417) (54,347)

Balance at 31st March, 2009 ¥ 69,499 ¥ 60,745 ¥ 89,743 ¥ (1,702) ¥ 4,560 ¥ 4,952 ¥ (97) ¥ (2,567) ¥ (41,379) ¥ 36,284 ¥ 220,038

 Net loss (37,041) (37,041)

 Reversal of revaluation reserve for land 58 58

 Purchase of treasury stock (787) (787)

 Disposal of treasury stock 1 10 11

 Change of scope of consolidation (6) (6)

 Change by share exchanges (362) 1,518 1,156

 Net changes in items other than 
 shareholders’ equity (56) 1,634 103 99 4,263 (1,285) 4,758

Balance at 31st March, 2010 ¥ 69,499 ¥ 60,384 ¥ 52,754 ¥ (961) ¥ 4,504 ¥ 6,586 ¥ 6 ¥ (2,468) ¥ (37,116) ¥ 34,999 ¥ 188,187

(Thousands of U.S. dollars) (Note 5)

Shareholders’ equity Valuation and translation adjustments

Minority 
interests

Total
net assetsCapital

stock
Capital
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Treasury
 stock

Revaluation
reserve for

land

Valuation
difference on
available-for

-sale securities

Deferred gains
or losses on

hedges

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
losses

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments

Balance at 31st March, 2009 $ 746,982 $ 652,895 $ 964,572 $ (18,296) $ 49,006 $ 53,233 $ (1,047) $ (27,594) $ (444,745) $ 389,986 $ 2,364,992

 Net loss (398,125) (398,125)

 Reversal of revaluation reserve for land 616 616

 Purchase of treasury stock (8,461) (8,461)

 Disposal of treasury stock 16 111 127

 Change of scope by consolidation (63) (63)

 Change by share exchanges (3,896) 16,320 12,424

 Net changes in items other than 
 shareholders’ equity (607) 17,558 1,114 1,068 45,820 (13,814) 51,139

Balance at 31st March, 2010 $ 746,982 $ 649,015 $ 567,000 $ (10,326) $ 48,399 $ 70,791 $ 67 $ (26,526) $ (398,925) $ 376,172 $ 2,022,649

Consolidated Statements of Operations Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets
FINANCIAL SECTION

Taiheiyo	Cement	Corporation	and	Subsidiaries	for	the	years	ended	31st	March,	2009	and	2010

FINANCIAL SECTION

The	accompanying	notes	are	an	integral	part	of	these	statements.

Taiheiyo	Cement	Corporation	and	Subsidiaries	for	the	years	ended	31st	March,	2009	and	2010
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2009 2010 2010

(Millions	of	yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)
(Note 5)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Loss	before	income	taxes	and	minority	interests ¥	(32,909) ¥ (42,155) $ (453,089)
Depreciation	and	amortization 51,730 48,717 523,614
Amortization	of	goodwill 3,060 3,233 34,754
Equity	in	(earnings)	losses	of	unconsolidated	subsidiaries	and	affiliates 7,536 (4,069) (43,730)
Loss	on	change	in	equity	of	subsidiaries	and	affiliates 54 158 1,694
Loss	(gain)	on	sales	of	investment	securities 1,265 (261) (2,805)
Loss	on	liquidation	of	subsidiaries	and	affiliates 251 27 288
Loss	on	valuation	of	stocks	of	subsidiaries	and	affiliates 7,091 837 8,998
Decrease	in	provision	for	retirement	benefits	and	directors’	retirement	benefits (1,279) (480) (5,156)
Decrease	in	provision	for	directors’	bonuses (27) (19) (208)
Decrease	in	allowance	for	doubtful	accounts (723) (688) (7,396)
Interest	and	dividends	income (2,718) (1,923) (20,668)
Interest	expenses 10,713 9,787 105,189
Loss	on	sales/disposal	of	property,	plant	and	equipment 3,466 1,046 11,245
Impairment	loss 3,161 4,782 51,399
Decrease	in	notes	and	accounts	receivable-trade 13,912 19,166 205,994
(Increase)	decrease	in	inventories (14,447) 17,329 186,256
Decrease	in	notes	and	accounts	payable-trade (7,587) (17,726) (190,521)
Loss	on	movement	of	head	office 428 — —
Loss	on	transfer	of	business 5,439 150 1,615
Amortization	of	goodwill	in	equity 4,492 — —
Business	structure	reform	costs — 32,227 346,373
Other,	net (5,741) (10,607) (114,003)
	 Subtotal 47,167 59,531 639,843
Interest	and	dividends	income	received 3,188 2,916 31,350
Interest	expenses	paid (11,455) (10,027) (107,768)
Income	taxes	paid (11,452) (3,598) (38,676)
Income	taxes	refund 775 — —
Net	cash	used	in	operating	activities 28,223 48,822 524,749
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Increase	in	time	deposits (61) (1,194) (12,837)
Purchase	of	property,	plant	and	equipment (50,598) (38,703) (415,988)
Proceeds	from	sales	of	property,	plant	and	equipment 6,450 6,326 67,989
Purchase	of	investment	securities (6,203) (517) (5,559)
Proceeds	from	sale	of	investment	securities 6,555 7,816 84,002
Payments	of	loans	receivable (4,575) (2,701) (29,025)
Collections	of	loans	receivable 3,891 2,704 29,062
Other,	net (48,035) 2,258 24,280 
Net	cash	used	in	investing	activities (92,576) (24,011) (258,076)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Increase	(decrease)	in	short-term	loans	payable 641 (8,794) (94,519)
Proceeds	from	long-term	loans	payable 121,379 74,456 800,259
Repayment	of	long-term	loans	payable (54,271) (52,064) (559,583)
Proceeds	from	issuance	of	bonds 950 10,490 112,747
Redemption	of	bonds (1,248) (796) (8,553)
Increase	in	commercial	papers 3,000 24,000 257,954
Purchase	of	treasury	stocks (75) (787) (8,460)
Payments	for	issuance	of	common	stock 2,139 — —
Cash	dividends	paid (4,669) — —
Cash	dividends	paid	to	minority	shareholders (833) (804) (8,646)
Proceeds	from	sales	of	treasury	stock 51 7 74
Redemption	of	bonds	with	subscription	rights	to	shares — (12,000) (128,977)
Other,	net (1,526) (1,373) (14,759)
Net	cash	provided	by	financing	activities 65,538 32,335 347,536
Effect	of	exchange	rate	changes	on	cash	and	cash	equivalents (4,099) 236 2,538
Net	increase	(decrease)	in	cash	and	cash	equivalents (2,914) 57,382 616,748
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	beginning	of	year 60,052 56,299 605,108
Increase	in	cash	and	cash	equivalents	resulting	from	merger	of	unconsolidated	subsidiaries — 162 1,739
Decrease	in	cash	and	cash	equivalents	resulting	from	corporate	division — (127) (1,365)
Decrease	in	cash	and	cash	equivalents	resulting	from	change	of	scope	of	consolidation (839) (236) (2,536)
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	end	of	year	(Note	7) ¥	56,299 ¥ 113,480 $ 1,219,694

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FINANCIAL SECTION FINANCIAL SECTION

Taiheiyo	Cement	Corporation	and	Subsidiaries	for	the	years	ended	31st	March,	2009	and	2010 Taiheiyo	Cement	Corporation	and	Subsidiaries	for	the	years	ended	31st	March,	2009	and	2010

<Yen in millions and U.S. dollars in thousands, except Note 2 (1) and (2) and 
share capital amounts in Note 2, conversion price of convertible bonds and 
per share amounts and unless otherwise indicated.>

1. Basis of Presentation of the Consolidated Financial Statements

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Taiheiyo Cement 
Corporation (the “Company”) and consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, the 
“Companies”) are prepared on the basis of accounting principles generally 
accepted in Japan, which are different in certain respects as to the application 
and disclosure requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards, 
and are compiled from the consolidated financial statements prepared by the 
Company as required by the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan.
 In preparing the accompanying consolidated financial statements, 
certain items presented in the consolidated financial statements filed with 
the Directors of Kanto Finance Bureau in Japan have been reclassified and/
or recapitulated in these accounts and certain notes have been added for 
the convenience of readers outside Japan and to conform to the current year 
presentation.

2. Scope of Consolidation and Investments in Unconsolidated 
 Subsidiaries and Affiliates

Under Japanese accounting standards, a subsidiary and an affiliate are 
defined as follows:
∙ a subsidiary: a company in which the reporting entity directly or indirectly 

holds more than 50% of the voting rights there of or which 
is deemed to be controlled directly or indirectly by the 
reporting entity; and

∙ an affiliate: a company in which the reporting entity directly or indirectly 
holds 20% or more of the voting rights thereof or in which 
the reporting entity is deemed to exercise significant 
influence directly or indirectly on its decision making.

(1) Scope of Consolidation

The numbers of subsidiaries the Company had for the years ended 31st 
March, 2009 and 2010 were 311 and 300, respectively, of which 172 and 
167, respectively, were consolidated in the respective years.
 The significant subsidiaries that have been consolidated by the Company 
are listed below:
Consolidated subsidiaries Equity ownership*

(%)
Share capital*

(Millions of yen)

(Domestic)
 NM Cement Co., Ltd. 70.0 ¥ 7,001
 Clion Co., Ltd. 94.7 5,489
 Mitsui Wharf Co., Ltd. 100.0 3,500
 Myojo Cement Co., Ltd. 100.0 2,500
 Azuma Shipping Co.,Ltd. 51.5 2,294
 Nihon Ceratec Co., Ltd. 100.0 1,826
 Taiheiyo Materials Corporation 100.0 1,631

(Millions of U.S. dollars)

(Overseas)
 Taiheiyo Cement U.S.A., Inc. (USA) 100.0 $ 63.5
 CalPortland Company (USA) 100.0 24.2
 Jiangnan-Onoda Cement Co., Ltd. (China) 88.5 134.3
 Dalian Onoda Cement Co., Ltd. (China) 84.8 82.8
 Qinhuangdao Asano Cement Co., Ltd. (China) 71.9 93.1
 Nghi Son Cement Corporation (Vietnam) 65.0 180.2
 * as of 31st March, 2010

 The remaining 133 unconsolidated subsidiaries for the year ended 31st 
March, 2010 (139 for the year ended 31st March, 2009) have not been 
consolidated with the Company since the total assets, net sales, retained 
earnings, and net income of those companies in the aggregate were not 
significant in relation to those of the consolidated financial statements of the 
Companies.

(2) Investments in Unconsolidated Subsidiaries and Affiliates

For the year ended 31st March, 2010, the Company had 135 affiliates (138 
for the year ended 31st March, 2009), of which 48 affiliates (51 for the year 
ended 31st March, 2009) were accounted for by the equity method, as are 
16 unconsolidated subsidiaries (14 for the year ended 31st March, 2009).
 Investments in the remaining 117 unconsolidated subsidiaries and 87 
affiliates (125 and 87, respectively, for the year ended 31st March, 2009) 
were carried at cost due to the immateriality of these entities in relation 
to the consolidated financial position and the results of operations of the 
Companies.
 The unconsolidated subsidiaries and significant affiliates, to which the 
equity method was applied, include:
Unconsolidated subsidiaries/affiliates Equity ownership*

(%)
Share capital*

(Millions of yen)

(Domestic)
Nippon Hume Corporation 29.7 ¥5,251
DC Co., Ltd. 31.6 4,013
A&A Material Corporation 43.0 3,889
Fuji P.S Corporation 21.1 2,379
Yakushima Denko Co., Ltd. 49.5 2,006
Asahi Concrete Works Co., Ltd. 21.3 1,204

(Billions of Korean Won)

(Overseas)
Ssangyong Cement Industrial Co., Ltd. (Korea) 32.3 401.5
 * as of 31st March, 2010

 For subsidiaries and affiliates which are accounted for by the equity 
method and of which net assets are negative, ¥7,629 ($81,997) has been 
directly deducted from “Investments in and advances to unconsolidated 
subsidiaries and affiliates” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets 
as of 31st March, 2010 by taking into account the amounts of loans to and 
guarantees for those companies (¥6,214 as of 31st March, 2009).

3. Consolidation Policies

For consolidation purposes, all significant inter-company transactions, 
account balances and unrealized profit/loss arising from inter-company 
transactions have been eliminated.
 Where the year-end dates of consolidated subsidiaries and 
unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates accounted for by the equity 
method are different from that of the Company, necessary adjustments have 
been made for any significant transactions that took place between such 
different year-end dates.
 Adjustments are made to eliminate the depreciation of assets related 
to unrealized profits incurred from inter-company transactions among the 
Companies.
 The difference between the purchase cost of an investment in a 
consolidated subsidiary and the amount of the underlying equity in net 
assets at fair value of such subsidiary is directly charged/credited, as the 
case may be, against income for the year unless such difference is material.  
If the difference is material and the effective period is able to be estimated, 
the difference is amortized over the relevant estimated effective periods. 

The	accompanying	notes	are	an	integral	part	of	these	statements.
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(6) Foreign Currency Translation

(Translation of foreign currency financial statements of overseas subsidiaries 
and affiliates)
Exchange rates at the balance sheet date are applied for all assets and 
liabilities and the historical exchange rates are applied to shareholders’ 
equity whereas profit and loss items are translated at the average exchange 
rates prevailing during the year.  Items related to inter-company transactions 
with the Company which are subject to elimination on consolidation are 
translated in the amounts the Company recorded. 
 The difference in the debits and credits in the balance sheets resulting 
from the translation in the above manner is shown as “Foreign currency 
translation adjustments” in the shareholders’ equity of the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets, net of the amount attributable to minority 
interests in consolidated subsidiaries.

(Translation of foreign currency items)
Receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies were translated 
into Japanese yen at the exchange rates at the balance sheet date.  Gains or 
losses arising from transactions in foreign currency receivables and payables 
are credited or charged to income as incurred.

(7) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows 
consist of cash on hand, bank deposits readily available, and short-term 
investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased.

(8) Income Taxes

Deferred tax accounting is applied for the preparation of the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements.  The asset and liability approach is used 
to recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities in respect of temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts and the tax base of assets and 
liabilities.

(9) Recognition of Certain Accrued Expenses

In general, the accrual basis of accounting for all income and expense items 
is followed for the preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements.

(i) Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowance for doubtful accounts is provided based on the estimated 
uncollectible amounts of doubtful receivables, in addition to a general 
provision computed by applying past credit loss experience.  Consolidated 
overseas subsidiaries mainly provide for such allowance at the estimated 
amounts of credit losses.

(ii) Provision for retirement benefits 
(Retirement benefits to employees)

Employees are generally entitled to lump-sum retirement and/or annuity 
upon termination of services, the amount of which is determined in 
light of the regulations set forth within the relevant companies of the 
Companies.  As a part of such employees’ retirement benefit scheme, the 
Company and certain subsidiaries have non-contributory pension funds.
 Provision for retirement benefits to employees are provided for in the 
amount of projected benefit obligation less the fair value of plan assets 

at the end of the financial year.
 The actuarial gains and losses and prior service cost are being 
amortized by the straight-line method over the certain number of 
years within the expected remaining years of service of the then-active 
employee participants (primarily 10 years), corresponding the year 
following the year in which they arise and effective the period in which 
they arise, respectively.
 The Company established a retirement benefit trust by contributing a 
certain shares of stock. 
 When the value of plan assets exceeds the amount of the projected 
benefit obligation minus both the actuarial gains and losses and prior 
service costs, the amount of such excess is included as prepaid pension 
costs in “Other” in “Investment, advances and other assets.”

(Retirement benefits to directors and corporate auditors)
As is customary practice in Japan, some consolidated subsidiaries 
pay lump-sum retirement benefits to retiring directors or corporate 
auditors, the amount of which is determined by the internal rules similar 
to those for employees.  The payment of such retirement benefits is 
subject to approval by shareholders at the annual general meeting. 
The consolidated subsidiaries recognize 100% of the amounts the 
consolidated subsidiaries would have paid if all directors and statutory 
auditors had retired at the year-end.

(Allowance for directors’ bonuses)
Domestic consolidated subsidiaries account for allowance for directors’ 
bonuses based on the estimated amount of payment for the current year.

(Provision for loss on assignment of business)
With respect to assignment of all businesses of the electrics subsidiary, 
an estimated cost to be incurred is provided for. 

(10) Appropriation of Retained Earnings

Under the Corporation Law of Japan, the appropriations of retained earnings, 
including year-end cash dividends, are subject to shareholders’ approval 
at the annual general meeting to be held within three months after the 
respective periods.  The board of directors is allowed to make interim 
cash distributions (“interim cash dividends”) with certain strict conditions 
stipulated in the Law.
 The appropriation of retained earnings shown in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of net assets reflects the results of the 
appropriation of retained earnings applicable to the immediately preceding 
year and approved at the shareholders’ meeting and the interim cash 
dividends made during the current year.  

(11) Accounting for Treasury Stock

The shares of the Company held by consolidated subsidiaries are recognized 
as treasury stock after netting off the amounts attributable to minority 
interests.  With respect to those shares held by affiliates to which the equity 
method is applied, the amounts attributable to the Companies are also 
recorded as treasury stock in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets, and debit/credit differences (gain/loss) incurred from transactions 
involving treasury stocks are charged to additional paid-in capital.

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Significant accounting policies employed by the Company and its 
consolidated subsidiaries in preparing the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements are outlined below:

(1) Inventories

Generally, inventories are stated at cost, which is determined by the moving 
average method.  Appropriate write-downs are recorded for inventories, which 
are deemed impaired in value. However the cost for contract work in process 
is determined by the specific identification cost method. Inventories held by 
the consolidated subsidiaries in the U.S.A. are valued at the lower of cost or 
market, cost being determined by the average method.

(Changes in Accounting Policy)
 Previously, the cost method mainly based on the moving-average method 
was adopted for measuring inventories held for sale in the ordinary course of 
business. However, the “Accounting Standard for Measurement of Inventories’’ 
Accounting Standards Board of Japan (“ASBJ”) has been applied from the 
year ended 31st March, 2009 and these inventories are measured by the 
cost method mainly based on the moving-average method, which writes them 
down based on the decrease in their profitability. 

(2) Property, Plant and Equipment (Excluding Lease Assets)

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost.
 Depreciation is computed generally based on the declining-balance 
method by the Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries at rates 
based on the estimated useful lives of assets.  The depreciation of buildings, 
excluding leasehold improvements, purchased on and after 1st April, 1998 is 
computed based on the straight-line method.
 Depreciation of property and equipment held by the subsidiaries in 
foreign countries is calculated by the straight-line method in accordance with 
accounting standards generally accepted in the respective countries.
 The range of useful lives is summarized as follows:
  Buildings and structures....... 10 – 75 years
  Machinery and equipment ......4 – 15 years
 Normal repairs and maintenance, including minor renewals and 
improvements, are charged to income as incurred.

(Additional Information)
 In conjunction with the revision of the Corporation Tax Law, as a result 
of a review for the range of useful lives of tangible fixed assets, from the 
year ended 31st March, 2009, the Company and its domestic consolidated 
subsidiaries have applied the range of useful lives based on the Law after 
revision. 
 
(3) Intangible Fixed Assets (Excluding Lease Assets)

Intangible fixed assets are amortized by the straight-line method.
 Capitalized software is amortized by the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives (basically 5 years).

(4) Lease Assets

Lease assets are depreciated down to a residual value of either zero or the 
amount calculated as their residual guarantee value, over their lease. The 

method of accounting for finance lease transactions that do not transfer 
ownership has changed from as rental transactions to sales/purchase 
transactions, recognizing them as lease assets. The lease transaction on or 
before 31st March, 2008 is treated as rental transactions.

(5) Financial Instruments

(a) Derivatives
All derivatives, except for derivatives that are designated as “hedging 
instruments” (see (c) Hedge Accounting below), are stated at fair value, and 
changes in fair value are included in the determination of net profit or loss for 
the period in which they arise.

(b) Securities
Securities are classified in accordance with Japanese accounting standards 
into four categories, namely, trading securities, held-to-maturity debt 
securities, shares in equity of subsidiaries and affiliates, and other securities. 
 Trading securities and certain financial instruments that meet strict 
conditions are categorized as current assets, and all other securities other 
than investments in consolidated subsidiaries are shown as “Investments in 
securities” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, as the case 
may be.
 Valuation of securities is as follows:
 Trading securities are valued at fair market value at the year-end and the 
resulting valuation gain/loss is charged to income;
 Held-to-maturity debt securities are valued by applying amortization/
accumulation unless impairments in value are to be recognized;
and
 With respect to other securities, such securities with market values are 
valued at fair market value and those without market values are valued 
at cost unless impairments in the value of those investments are to be 
recognized.  The unrealized gain/loss resulting from the valuation of other 
securities at year-end is shown as “Valuation difference on available-for-
sale securities,” net of deferred income taxes thereon, in the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets.  Cost of securities sold is determined by the 
moving-average method.
 When market values of other securities are 50% of the cost or lower at 
the end of the financial year, such securities are written down to such market 
value.  With respect to other securities of which market values have declined 
between 30% and 50% of the respective costs, amounts to be written-off are 
determined by considering the recoverability of the respective securities.

(c) Hedge Accounting
Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives designated 
as hedging instruments are deferred as “Deferred gains or losses on hedges”, 
net of deferred income taxes, in net assets. Such gains or losses are included 
in net profit or loss in the same period during which the gains and losses on 
the hedged items or transactions are recognized.
 The derivatives designated as hedging instruments are principally interest 
swaps and forward exchange contracts.  The related hedged items are trade 
accounts receivable and payable, long-term bank loans, and debt securities.
 The Company has a policy to utilize the above hedging instruments in 
order to reduce the exposure to the risk of interest rate and foreign exchange 
fluctuations.  Thus, the purchases of the hedging instruments are limited to, 
at maximum, the amounts of the hedged items.  Effectiveness of hedging 
activities is evaluated by reference to the accumulated gains or losses on the 
hedging instruments and the related hedged items from the commencement 
of the hedges.
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(3) Risk management for financial instruments
 1) Management of credit risk (the risk that customers or counterparties may 

default)
  In accordance with the internal policies of the Companies for 

managing credit risk arising from receivables, each related division 
monitors credit worthiness of their main customers periodically, and 
monitors due dates and outstanding balances by individual customer. In 
addition, the Companies are making efforts to identify and mitigate risks 
of bad debts from customers who are having financial difficulties.

  The Companies also believe that the credit risk of derivatives is 
insignificant as it enters into derivative transactions only with financial 
institutions which have a sound credit profile.

  At the balance sheet date, the carrying values of the financial assets 
represent the maximum credit risk exposures of the Companies.

 2) Management of market risks (the risks arising from fluctuations in foreign 
exchange rates, interest rates and others)

  In order to mitigate the interest rate risk for loans payable bearing 
interest at variable rates, the Companies may also enter into interest rate 
swap transactions. For investment securities, the Companies periodically 
review the fair values of such financial instruments and the financial 
position of the issuers. In conducting derivative transactions, the division 
in charge of each derivative transaction follows the internal policies, which 
set forth delegation of authority and maximum upper limit on positions.

 3) Management of liquidity risk (the risk that the Companies may not be 
able to meet its obligations on scheduled due dates)

  Trade payables and borrowings are exposed to liquidity risk. Based 
on the report from each division, the Companies prepare and update its 
cash flow plans on a timely basis to manage liquidity risk.

(4) Supplementary explanation of the estimated fair value of 
 financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments is based on their quoted market price, 
if available. When there is no quoted market price available, fair value is 
reasonably estimated. Since various assumptions and factors are reflected 
in estimating the fair value, different assumptions and factors could result 
in different fair value. In addition, the notional amounts of derivatives in 
Note 23 “Derivative Transactions” are not necessarily indicative of the actual 
market risk involved in derivative transactions.

(2) Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Carrying value of financial instruments on the consolidated balance sheet 
as of March 31, 2010 and estimated fair value are shown in the following 
table. The following table does not include financial instruments for which it is 
extremely difficult to determine the fair value (Please refer to Note 2 below)

 (Millions of yen)

Carrying value Estimated fair 
value  Difference

1) Cash and deposits ¥119,437 ¥119,437 ¥—
2) Notes and accounts receivable-trade 153,699 153,699 —
3) Other Securities 81,332 54,648 (26,684)
Total assets ¥354,468 ¥327,784 ¥(26,684)
1) Notes and accounts payable-trade ¥82,958 ¥82,958 ¥—
2) Short-term loans payable 223,300 223,300 —
3) Commercial paper 46,000 46,000 —
4) Bonds payable 83,661 82,448 (1,213)
5) Convertible bond 22,022 22,022 0
6) Long term loans payable 304,093 306,284 2,191
Total liabilities ¥762,034 ¥763,012 ¥978
Derivatives transaction(*1) ¥(850) ¥(850) ¥—

(Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Carrying value Estimated fair 
value  Difference

1) Cash and deposits $1,283,719 $1,283,719 $—
2) Notes and accounts receivable-trade 1,651,967 1,651,967 —
3) Other Securities 874,161 587,360 (286,801)
Total assets $3,809,847 $3,523,046 $(286,801)
1) Notes and accounts payable-trade $891,638 $891,638 $—
2) Short-term loans payable 2,400,042 2,400,042 —
3) Commercial paper 494,411 494,411 —
4) Bonds payable 899,193 886,156 (13,037)
5) Convertible bond 236,693 236,693 0
6) Long term loans payable 3,268,411 3,291,960 23,549
Total liabilities $8,190,388 $8,200,900 $10,511
Derivatives transaction(*1) $(9,135) $(9,135) $—

(*1) The value of assets and liabilities arising from derivatives is shown 
at net value, and with the amount in parentheses representing net 
liability position.

Note1: Methods to determine the estimated fair value of financial 
instruments and other matters related to securities and derivative 
transactions

Assets
(1) Cash and deposits

(2) Notes and accounts receivable-trade
Since these items are settled in a short period of time, their carrying value 
approximates fair value.

(3) Investment securities 
The fair value of stocks is based on quoted market prices.

Liabilities
(1) Notes and accounts payable-trade

(2) Short-term loans payable

(3) Commercial paper
Since these items are settled in a short period of time, their carrying value 
approximates fair value.

(4) Bonds payable
The fair value of bonds is based on either the present value of the total of 
principal discounted by an interest rate determined taking into account the 
current credit risk. Bonds payable include the bonds that is due within one year.

(5) Convertible bonds
The fair value of convertible bonds is based on the quoted market price. 
Convertible bonds include the convertible bonds that is due within one year.

(6) Long term loans payable
The fair value of long-term loans receivable is based on the present value 
of the total of principal and interest discounted by the interest rate to be 
applied if similar new loans were entered into. Long term loans payable 
include long term loans payable that is due within one year. 

Derivatives Transactions 
Please refer to Note 23 “Derivative Transactions”
Note2: Financial instruments for which it is extremely difficult to determine 

the fair value.

(12) Per Share Information

Net income per share is computed based on the weighted-average number of 
shares of common stock outstanding during the respective periods.
 The amount of cash dividends is the total of interim cash dividends paid 
during the respective periods and dividends declared as applicable to the 
respective periods.
 
(13) Changes in Accounting Policy

(a) Accounting Standard for Lease Transactions
Previously, finance lease transactions that do not transfer ownership of 
the leased property to the lessee followed methods applicable to ordinary 
rental transactions. However, effective for the year ended 31st March, 2009, 
the “Accounting Standard for Lease Transactions” (ASBJ Statement No. 
13) and “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Lease Transactions” (ASBJ 
Guidance No. 16) have been applied, and such transactions are currently 
accounted for as ordinary sale and purchase transactions. Finance lease 
transactions starting before the year ended 31st March, 2009 that do not 
transfer ownership of the leased property to the lessee are accounted for as 
operating leases.
 The impact of this change on income is immaterial.

(b) Practical Solution on Unification of Accounting Policies Applied to 
 Foreign Subsidiaries for Consolidated Financial Statements
Effective for the year ended 31st March, 2009, the “Practical Solution 
on Unification of Accounting Policies Applied to Foreign Subsidiaries for 
Consolidated Financial Statements” (ASBJ PITF No. 18) has been applied, 
and accordingly some revisions have been made to the consolidated 
accounts as necessary.
  As a result, operating income decreased by ¥1,924, loss before income 
taxes and minority interests increased by ¥1,890 and retained earning as the 
beginning of the year ended 31st March , 2009 decreased by ¥12,909.

(c) Recognizing Revenues and Costs of Construction 
Until the year ended 31st March, 2009, revenues and costs of construction 
contracts were reorganized by the completed-contract method. Effective 1st 
April, 2009, the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries have applied 
the “Accounting Standard for Construction Contracts” (ASBJ statement 
No.15) and “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Construction Contracts” 
(ASBJ Guidance No.18).Under the new accounting standard and guidance, 
revenues and cost of construction contracts that commenced on or after, 1st 
April, 2009, of which the percentage of completion can be reliably estimated, 
are recognized by the percentage-of-completion method. The percentage 
of completion is calculated at the cost incurred as a percentage of the 
estimated total cost. The completed-contract method continues to be applied 
for contracts for which the percentage of completion cannot be reliably 
estimated.
 The effect of this change was immaterial to the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 31st March, 2010.

(d) Application of Partial Amendments to Accounting Standard for 
 Retirement Benefits (Part3)
Effective 1st April, 2009, “Partical Amendments to Accounting Standard for 
Retirement Benefits” (ASBJ Statement No.19), has been applied.
 The application of this policy had no impact on operating income and 
income before loss taxes and minority interests for the year ended 31st 
March , 2010.

(14) Additional Information

The company enters into the syndicated loan contract, for which the arrangers 
are Mizuho Corporate Bank , Ltd . and Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation. 
Although the Company was in violation of the loan covenant at 31st March , 
2010, the Company obtained agreements by all related financial institutions 
to waive their rights to call the loan.

5. United States Dollar Amounts

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in 
Japanese yen.  The U.S. dollar amounts included in the consolidated financial 
statements and notes thereto represent the arithmetical results of translating 
Japanese yen to U.S. dollars on a basis of ¥93.04 = U.S.$1, the approximate 
effective rate of exchange prevailing at 31st March, 2010.  The inclusion 
of such U.S. dollar amounts is solely for convenience of the readers and is 
not intended to imply that yen amounts have been or could be converted, 
realized or settled in U.S. dollars at that or any other rate.

6. Financial Instruments

(Additional Information)
Effective for the year ended 31st March, 2010, the “Accounting Standard 
for Financial Instruments” (ASBJ Statement No.10 (revised 2008)) and 
the “Guidance on Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments” 
(ASBJ Guidance No.19) have been adopted.

(1) Status of financial Instruments

(1) Policy for financial instruments
In consideration of plans for capital investment, the Company and its 
consolidated subsidiaries limits the scope of its cash and fund management 
activities to short-term deposits. In addition, when raising funds, the 
Companies have a policy of relying principally on bank borrowings. The 
Companies use derivatives for the purpose of reducing risk and do not enter 
into derivatives for speculative or trading purposes.

(2) Types of financial instruments and related risk
Notes and accounts receivable - trade are exposed to credit risk in relation 
to customers. In addition, the Companies are exposed to foreign currency 
exchange risk arising from receivables denominated in foreign currencies.
 Marketable securities and investment securities are exposed to market 
risk. Those securities are the shares of common stock of other companies 
with which the Companies have business relationships, or affiliated 
companies. The Companies have also long-term loans receivable from other 
companies with which it has business relationships.
 Substantially all notes and accounts payable - trade have payment 
due dates within one year. The Companies are exposed to foreign currency 
exchange risk arising from those payables that is originated from import 
transactions of fuels.
 Short-term borrowings are raised mainly in connection with business 
activities, and long-term loans payable, bonds payable and convertible bonds 
are taken out principally for the purpose of making capital investments. Long-
term loans payable have covenants commitments and may influence liquidity 
risks regarding fund raising activities. Long-term debt with variable interest 
rates is exposed to interest rate fluctuation risk. However, to reduce such risk 
and fix interest expense for long-term debt bearing interest at variable rates, 
the Companies utilize interest rate swap transactions as a hedging instrument.
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9. Short-Term Loans Payable and Long-Term Loans Payable

Weighted average interest rates on short-term loans payable posits received 
from retailers to secure trade receivables outstanding at 31st March, 2010 
were 1.09 and 1.42% respectively.
 Interest bearing liabilities as of 31st March, 2009 and 2010 are as follows:

2009 2010

Weighted 
average 

interest rates
(%)

Weighted 
average 

interest rates
(%)

Long-term loans payable
 Long-term loans payable ¥288,662 1.91 ¥304,093 1.09 $3,268,414
 Bonds 73,967 0.78—2.00 83,661 0.78—2.00 899,194
 Convertible bonds * 34,138 0.00 22,022 0.00 236,699
 Lease 3,496 6,292 67,626

400,263 416,068 4,471,933
Less: due within one year
Long-term loans payable 56,102 1.91 68,223 1.42 733,267
 Bonds 786 0.78—2.00 42,593 0.78—2.00 457,795
 Lease 885 1,333 — 14,323

57,773 112,149 1,205,385
¥342,490 ¥303,919 $3,266,548

*: The Company issued ¥12,000 Zero coupon convertible bonds due 2013 
with a conversion price of ¥382 per share on 5th November, 2003 and 
¥22,000 Zero coupon convertible bonds due 2014 with a conversion 
price of ¥506 per share on 11th May, 2004.

 Aggregate annual maturities of long-term bank loans and bonds 
outstanding as of 31st March, 2010 for the next five years are as follows:

Year ending
31st March, Bonds Long-term bank loans Lease

2011 ¥42,593 $ 457,795 ¥68,223 $733,267 ¥1,333 $14,323
2012 20,830 223,882 73,485 789,821 1,268 13,629
2013 30,493 327,730 37,109 398,850 1,202 12,908
2014 1,173 12,608 78,330 841,896 945 10,161
2015 193 2,075 31,855 342,383 538 5,783

Year ending
31st March, Total

2011 ¥112,149 $1,205,385
2012 95,583 1,027,332
2013 68,804 739,512
2014 80,448 864,665
2015 32,586 350,241

10. Assets Pledged as Collateral and Secured Liabilities

Assets pledged as collateral and secured liabilities as of 31st March, 2009 
and 2010 were as follows:

(1) Assets pledged as collateral

2009 2010

Cash and deposits ¥800 ¥2,200 $23,642
Notes and accounts receivable-trade 374 380 4,081
Investments securities 18,337 22,467 241,480
Other assets 6,278 6,421 69,012
Buildings and structures 37,846 35,856 385,381
Machinery , equipment and vehicles 21,322 17,786 191, 162
Land 55,569 54,667 587,570
Other property, plant and equipment 233 174 1,877
Total ¥140,759 ¥139,951 $1,504,205

(2) Secured liabilities

2009 2010

Notes and accounts payable-trade ¥3,834 ¥4,301 $46,227
Short-term bank loans 30,168 29,734 319,581
Long-term bank loans 38,383 34,724 373,212
Bonds 310 160 1,720
Other liabilities 3,323 7,982 85,796
Total ¥76,018 ¥76,901 $826,536

11. Provision for Retirement Benefits

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries have unfunded defined benefit 
plans, and contributory and/or noncontributory defined benefit plans.
 The Company contributes certain assets to a retirement benefit trust.
 Provision for retirement benefits as of 31st March, 2009 and 2010 were 
analyzed as follows:

2009 2010

Projected benefit obligations ¥(92,493) ¥(90,556) $(973,304)
Plan assets 36,031 39,634 425,990

(56,462) (50,922) (547,314)
Unrecognized actuarial differences 27,452 21,940 235,811
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance 
sheets (29,010) (28,982) (311,503)

Prepaid pension costs 5,205 6,431 69,118
Provision for retirement benefits ¥(34,215) ¥(35,413) $(380,621)

 Expenses related to retirement benefits to employees incurred for the 
years ended 31st March, 2009 and 2010 were as follows:

2009 2010

Service cost ¥3,575 ¥3,440 $36,973
Interest cost 2,560 2,469 26,537
Expected return on plan assets (1,628) (1,321) (14,202)
Amortization of actuarial loss 3,687 5,158 55,439
Amortization of unrecognized prior service cost (385) (356) (3,826)
Expenses for the year ¥7,809 ¥9,390 $100,921

 Assumptions used in the calculation of the above information were as 
follows:
Discount rate Mainly 2.5%
Expected rate of return on plan assets Mainly 2.5%
Method of attributing the projected benefits to 
periods of services Straight-line basis

Amortization of actuarial differences Mainly 10 years from the year following that 
recognition

Amortization of unrecognized prior service cost Mainly 10 years from the year of that 
recognition

12. Contingent Liabilities

(1) As of 31st March, 2010, the Companies were contingently 
liable for notes discounted by banks in the aggregate amount of 
¥12,135($130,432) (¥10,063 as of 31st March, 2009), notes 
endorsed for payments in the aggregate amount of ¥401 ($4,307) 
(¥226 as of 31st March, 2009), and the assignment of receivable with 
recourse of zero (¥1,093 as of 31st March, 2009).

(2) The Companies were also contingently liable as guarantors of bank loans 
and trade payables for certain companies (including guarantee forward 
commitments), the balances of which as of 31st March, 2009 and 2010 
were as follows:

(Millions of yen)

Carrying amount
Unlisted stocks ¥21,623

(Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Carrying amount
Unlisted stocks $232,405

Because no quoted market price is available and it is extremely difficult to 
determine the fair value, the above financial instruments are not included in 
the above table.

Note3: Redemption schedule for receivables and marketable securities with 
maturities at 31st March, 2010.

(Millions of yen)

Due in one 
year or less

Due after one 
year through

five years

Due after five 
years through

ten years

Due after ten
years

Cash and deposit ¥119,437 ¥— ¥— ¥—
Notes receivable and 
accounts receivable-trade 153,699 — — —

Investment securities with 
maturities — — 19 —

 Total ¥273,136 ¥— ¥19 ¥—

(Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Due in one
year or less

Due after one
year through

five years

Due after five
years through

ten years

Due after ten
years

Cash and deposit $1,283,716 $— $— $—
Notes receivable and 
accounts receivable-trade 1,651,966 — — —

Investment securities with 
maturities — — 204 —

 Total $2,935,682 $— $204 $—

Note4: The redemption schedule for long-term debt and so on.
(Millions of yen)

Due in one 
year or less

Due after one 
year through 

two years

Due after two 
years through 
three years

Due after three 
years through 

four years

Due after four 
years through 

five years

Due after five 
years

Corporate bond ¥20,610 ¥20,829 ¥30,492 ¥1,173 ¥153 ¥10,402
Corporate bond 
with share 
purchase warrant

21,982 — — — 40 —

Long term loan 
payable 68,224 73,485 37,110 78,329 31,855 15,090

 Total ¥110,816 ¥94,314 ¥67,602 ¥79,502 ¥32,048 ¥25,492

(Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Due in one 
year or less

Due after one 
year through 

two years

Due after two 
years through 
three years

Due after three 
years through 

four years

Due after four 
years through 

five years

Due after five 
years

Corporate bond $221,517 $223,871 $327,730 $12,607 $1,644 $111,801
Corporate bond 
with share 
purchase warrant

236,263 — — — 429 —

Long term loan 
payable 733,265 789,810 398,849 841,885 342,379 162,188

 Total $1,191,045 $1,013,681 $726,579 $854,492 $344,452 $273,989

7. Cash and Cash Equivalents

“Cash and deposits” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of 
31st March, 2009 and 2010 are reconciled to cash and cash equivalents in 
the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows as follows:

2009 2010

Cash and deposits ¥61,053 ¥119,437 $1,283,719
Time deposits with a maturity of over three months (4,754) (5,957) (64,025)
Cash and cash equivalents ¥56,299 ¥ 113,480 $1,219,694

8. Investment Securities

Investments securities shown in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets as of 31st March, 2009 and 2010 comprises:

2009 2010

Investments in and advances to unconsolidated 
subsidiaries and affiliates ¥57,342 ¥62,332 $669,952

Others 45,812 40,624 436,625
¥103,154 ¥102,956 $1,106,577

 At 31st March, 2009 and 2010, information with respect to “available-
for-sale securities” for which market prices were available is summarized as 
follows:

As of 31st March, 2010
Acquisition 

cost
Fair

value
Unrealized gain 

(loss)
Acquisition 

cost
Fair

value
Unrealized gain 

(loss)

Securities with fair 
value exceeding their 
acquisition cost:
 Equity securities ¥11,132 ¥23,734 ¥12,602 $119,647 $255,100 $135,453
 Bonds:
  Government 
  bonds 20 21 1 215 224 9

 Other — — — — — —
11,152 23,755 12,603 119,862 255,324 135,462

Securities with fair 
value not exceeding 
their acquisition cost:
 Equity securities 6,031 5,173 (857) 64,815 55,604 (9,211)
 Bonds:
  Government 
  bonds — — — — — —

 Other 1 1 0 15 12 (3)
6,032 5,174 (857) 64,830 55,616 (9,214)

¥17,184 ¥28,929 ¥11,746 $184,692 $310,940 $126,248

As of 31st March, 2009
Acquisition 

cost
Fair

value
Unrealized gain 

(loss)

Securities with fair 
value exceeding their 
acquisition cost:
 Equity securities ¥10,968 ¥26,307 ¥15,339
 Bonds:
  Government 
  bonds 20 20 0

 Other — — —
10,988 26,327 15,339

Securities with fair 
value not exceeding 
their acquisition cost:
 Equity securities 6,485 5,697 (788)
 Bonds:
  Government 
  bonds — — —

 Other 31 25 (6)
6,516 5,722 (794)

¥17,504 ¥32,049 ¥14,545

 Other securities without market values as of 31st March, 2009 were as 
follows:

2009

Shares other than listed shares and shares traded on the OTC market ¥13,735
Other equity securities 3

 Gains and losses incurred from the sale of other securities included in 
the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the years ended 
31st March, 2009 and 2010 were as follows:

2009 2010

Sales amounts ¥4,801 ¥6,163 $66,238
Gains 791 30 318
Losses 59 18 194
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19. Impairment Loss

The Company evaluated the impairment of fixed assets by grouping assets 
based on a business unit that was largely independent of other asset 
groups, except for assets used for rent, important idle properties and assets 
scheduled for disposal, which are individually considered.  Each consolidated 
subsidiary principally formed an asset group.  Certain significant subsidiaries 
formed asset groups by segment for management accounting purposes, 
except for important idle properties and assets scheduled for disposal.
 As a result, the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries recognized 
impairment losses of ¥3,161 ($32,180) and ¥18,054 ($194,044) in 
non-operating expenses for the years ended 31st March, 2009 and 2010 as 
follows:

2009 2010

Cement manufacture assets
 Buildings and structures ¥— ¥3,926 $42,192
 Machinery, equipment and vehicles — 6,577 70,703
 Other — 2,116 22,740

— 12,619 135,635
Business assets of ready-mixed concrete
 Buildings and structures 413 564 6,063
 Machinery, equipment and vehicles 114 220 2,361
 Land 79 408 4,387
 Other 85 295 3,167

691 1,487 15,978
Other business assets
 Buildings and structures 401 523 5,625
 Machinery, equipment and vehicles 627 665 7,145
 Land 342 101 1,087
 Other 222 336 3,609

1,592 1,625 17,466
Idle properties
 Buildings and structures 71 306 3,286
 Machinery, equipment and vehicles 1 79 845
 Land 792 733 7,880
 Other 14 27 295

878 1,145 12,306
Prepared disposal assets
 Buildings and structures — 546 5,871
 Land — 631 6,783
 Other — 1 5

— 1,178 12,659
¥3,161 ¥18,054 $194,044

The impairment losses were measured as the excess of the book value over 
the higher of (1) the fair market value of the assets, net of disposal costs or 
(2) the present value of future cash flows arising from ongoing utilization of 
the assets and disposal after the assets’ use.
 The fair market value of the assets, net of disposal costs, was estimated 
as the residual value for tax purposes less disposal costs for tangible 
depreciable assets including buildings and structures, an appraised value for 
lands, and structures; the appraised value for lands; the aggregated amount 
of appraised values of lands and estimated values of minable raw materials 
for mining lands for raw materials.
 The present value of future cash flows was calculated using discount 
rates of 5-6%.

20. Loss on Business Withdrawal

The loss incurred in conjunction with a U.S. subsidiary’s withdrawal from its 
fodder additive business was ¥906 ($9,741) for the year ended 31st March, 
2010 (¥377 for the year ended 31st March, 2009).

21. Business Structure Reform Costs

Business structure reform costs of ¥32,227 ($346,373) were incurred for 
the year ended 31st March, 2010, which were related to the execution of 
the measures including reforms of the system of domestic production, the 
system of the number of persons of the organization, and the system of 
domestic cement business in order to aim to achieve stable earnings even 
if the domestic cement demand decreases. Such costs primarily consisted 
of impairment loss of ¥13,271 ($142,637), additional retirement benefits 
of ¥8,186 ($87,983) and retirement benefits related expenses of ¥5,702 
($61,285).

22. Lease

The Companies have various lease agreements whereby the Companies act 
both as lessees and lessors.

(1) As lessees

(a) Finance lease contracts other than those that are deemed to transfer 
the ownership of the leased assets to lessees, which were commenced 
before 1st April, 2008 are accounted for by the method that is 
applicable to ordinary operating leases. Assumed data as to acquisition 
costs, accumulated depreciation and net balance of the leased assets 
would be follows:

31st March, 2010
Acquisition 

costs
Accumulated 
depreciation

Accumulated 
impairment loss Net balance

Buildings and structures ¥193 ¥126 ¥10 ¥57
Machinery, equipment and 
vehicles 44,512 33,855 2,552 8,106

Other tangible and intangible 
assets 1,638 1,041 54 542

Total ¥46,343 ¥35,022 ¥2,616 ¥8,705
Buildings and structures $2,071 $1,349 $103 $618
Machinery, equipment and 
vehicles 478,420 363,876 27,433 87,113

Other tangible assets 17,607 11,194 583 5,830
Total $498,098 $376,419 $28,119 $93,561

31st March, 2009
Acquisition 

costs
Accumulated 
depreciation

Accumulated 
impairment loss Net balance

Buildings and structures ¥193 ¥103 ¥5 ¥85
Machinery, equipment and 
vehicles 51,842 34,927 381 16,534

Other tangible assets 2,811 1,748 30 1,033

Total ¥54,846 ¥36,778 ¥416 ¥17,652

 Future minimum lease payments as of 31st March, 2009 and 2010 and 
lease rental expenses for the years ended 31st March, 2009 and 2010 are 
as follows.

31st March, 2009 31st March, 2010

The scheduled maturities of future lease rental 
payments on such lease:
 Due within one year ¥6,042 ¥3,908 $42,001
 Due over one year 11,863 5,143 55,275

¥17,905 ¥9,051 $97,276
Lease rental expenses for the year ¥6,300 ¥5,205 $55,949

(b) Future lease payments under operating leases are as follows:
31st March, 2009 31st March, 2010

 Due within one year ¥627 ¥544 $5,848
 Due over one year 1,455 962 10,336

¥2,082 ¥1,506 $16,184

2009 2010

Guarantees for bank loans payable ¥9,579 ¥9,981 $107,280
Guarantees for account payables to Ready-mixed 
Cooperative Association 1,567 1,192 12,807

Guarantees (forward commitments) for bank 
loans payable 1,069 368 3,951

 
13. Shareholders’ Equity

The Corporation Law of Japan provides that an amount equivalent to 10% of 
interim cash distributions (interim cash dividends) and at least 10% of cash 
distributions including cash dividends made as a result of the appropriation 
of retained earnings is required to be transferred to the legal reserve until the 
balance of the total of the additional paid-in capital and the legal reserve 
reaches 25% of the stated share capital.  The balance of legal reserve is 
included in retained earnings, the use of which is strictly limited under the Law.
 The amount in excess of 25% of the stated share capital, as the case 
may be, allowed to be distributed as dividends when certain conditions 
specifically stipulated in the Law are satisfied.

14. Revaluation of Land

Chichibu Railway Co., Ltd., a domestic consolidated subsidiary, revalued land 
on 31st March, 2000 in accordance with the Law for Land Revaluation.
 With respect to the amount of unrealized profit less deferred taxes 
thereon, the amount attributable to minority interests is credited to 
“Minority interests and the rest is recorded as “Revaluation reserve for land 
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
 With respect to the land revalued as mentioned above, the difference 
between the aggregate book value of such land (after revaluation) and the 
aggregate fair value thereof was ¥5,814 ($62,488) at 31st March, 2010 
(¥5,759 at 31st March, 2009).
 During the year ended 31st March, 2002, A&A Material Corporation and 
DC Co., Ltd., domestic affiliates accounted for by the equity method, revalued 
their land in accordance with the Law for Land Revaluation.  With respect 
to the amount of unrealized profit less deferred taxes thereon, the amount 
attributable to the Company is included in “Revaluation reserve for land” in 
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

15. Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the years ended 31st March, 
2009 and 2010 are summarized as follows:

2009 2010

Labor and payroll cost ¥40,017 ¥37,588 $403,995
Freight and transportation/distribution expenses 55,655 45,262 486,483
Provision for accrued bonuses to employees 2,001 1,590 17,086
Expenses related to accrued retirement benefits 5,562 6,457 69,399
Amortization of goodwill 3,060 3,234 34,754
Others 36,638 31,359 337,057
Total ¥142,933 ¥125,490 $1,348,774

 
 16. Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs charged to selling, general and 
administrative expenses and manufacturing costs for the years ended 31st 
March, 2009 and 2010 were ¥5,076 and ¥4,620 ($49,654), respectively.

17. Income Taxes

Income taxes in Japan applicable to the Company and its domestic 
consolidated subsidiaries consist of corporate tax, inhabitants’ taxes and 
enterprise tax.  Enterprise tax is deductible when paid as expenses for the 
purpose of the calculation of other income taxes.  The effective statutory tax 
rate for the years ended 31st March, 2009 and 2010 were approximately 
39.54%.
 The reconciliation between the effective tax rates reflected in the 
consolidated statements of operations for the year-ended 31st March, 2009 
and 2010 is not presented as the Company recorded loss before income 
taxes and minority interests for such period.
 The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of 
31st March, 2009 and 2010 were as follows:

2009 2010

Deferred tax assets:
 Nondeductible portion of:
 – provision for doubtful accounts ¥1,276 ¥1,588 $17,066
 – provision for bonus to employees 2,284 2,124 22,826
 – Provision for directors’ retirement benefits 16,810 16,837 180,963
 Unrealized loss of property, plant and 
 equipment 14,640 14,693 157,924

 Impairment loss 11,379 12,887 138,515
 Others 11,902 25,712 276,356
 Loss carried forward 22,026 27,814 298,947
  Subtotal 80,317 101,655 1,092,597
 Valuation allowance (32,368) (46,955) (504,676)
Total deferred tax assets 47,949 54,700 587,921
Deferred tax liabilities:
 Special tax reserve on property, plant and 
 equipment (16,861) (16,093) (172,964)

 Other reserves under special taxation 
 measures law (482) (482) (5,173)

 Depreciation (5,477) (6,586) (70,781)
 Goodwill (1,857) (1,871) (20,113)
 Unrealized holding gain on available-for -sale
 securities (3,902) (4,415) (47,455)

 Land revaluation (6,095) (6,042) (64,944)
 Others (1,397) (1,551) (16,680)
Total deferred tax liabilities (36,071) (37,040) (398,110)
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) ¥11,878 ¥17,660 $189,811

18. Accounting Standard for Disclosures about Fair Value of Investment 
 and Rental Property

(Additional information)
Effective for the year ended 31st March , 2010 “Accounting Standard for 
Disclosures about Fair Value of Investment and Rental Property”(ASBJ 
Statement No. 20) ” and “Guidance on Accounting Standard for 
Disclosures about Fair Value of Investment and Rental Property”(ASBJ 
Guidance No. 23) have been applied. 
 Net rental income from the rental property is ¥3,566 ($38,327) for 
the year ended 31st March ,2010 (rental revenues are included in net 
sales or non-operating income, and rental expenses are included in cost 
of sales or non-operating expenses). Loss on sales of the rental property 
is ¥389 ($4,180) for the year ended 31st March, 2010.
 Carrying value and fair value of the rental property are as follows:

Carrying value Fair value

As of 31st March , 
2009 Net Change As of 31st March , 

2010
As of 31st March , 

2010
¥68,698 ¥(3,342) ¥65,356 ¥111,477

$738,370 $(35,920) $702,450 $1,198,162
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24. Segment Information

(1) Industry segments

2010

Cement 
business

Mineral resources 
business

Environmental 
business

Construction 
materials business

Ceramics & 
electronics 
business

Other Total Eliminations or 
corporate assets Consolidated total

Net sales:
(1) Net sales to outside customers ¥439,834 ¥69,804 ¥54,567 ¥82,888 ¥20,391 ¥61,098 ¥728,582 ¥— ¥728,582
(2) Inter-segment net sales 11,663 16,675 6,350 5,857 39 40,024 80,608 (80,608) —
 Total 451,497 86,479 60,917 88,745 20,430 101,122 809,190 (80,608) 728,582
Operating costs and expenses 452,340 85,652 56,760 87,679 24,058 98,024 804,513 (79,504) 725,009
Operating income (loss) ¥(843) ¥827 ¥4,157 ¥1,066 ¥(3,628) ¥3,098 ¥4,677 ¥(1,104) ¥3,573
Assets ¥591,380 ¥135,310 ¥16,228 ¥95,944 ¥31,624 ¥266,840 ¥1,137,326 ¥17,931 ¥1,155,257
Depreciation ¥30,757 ¥5,415 ¥402 ¥2,624 ¥1,553 ¥7,689 ¥48,440 ¥277 ¥48,717
Impairment loss ¥12,571 ¥648 ¥620 ¥472 ¥— ¥3,743 ¥18,054 ¥— ¥18,054
Capital expenditures ¥27,896 ¥5,643 ¥120 ¥1,947 ¥329 ¥2,434 ¥38,369 ¥717 ¥39,086
Net sales:
(1) Net sales to outside customers $4,727,362 $750,251 $586,487 $890,885 $219,168 $656,689 $7,830,842 $— $7,830,842
(2) Inter-segment net sales 125,358 179,228 68,251 62,952 419 430,175 866,383 (866,383) —
 Total 4,852,720 929,479 654,738 953,837 219,587 1,086,864 8,697,225 (866,383) 7,830,842
Operating costs and expenses 4,861,781 920,596 610,057 942,379 258,579 1,053,565 8,646,957 (854,516) 7,792,441
Operating income(loss) $(9,061) $8,883 $44,681 $11,458 $(38,992) $33,299 $50,268 $(11,867) $38,401
Assets $6,356,192 $1,454,323 $174,415 $1,031,208 $339,892 $2,868,021 $12,224,051 $192,726 $12,416,777
Depreciation $330,580 $58,196 $4,318 $28,204 $16,689 $82,654 $520,641 $2,973 $523,614
Impairment loss $135,110 $6,968 $6,660 $5,072 $— $40,234 $194,044 $— $194,044
Capital expenditures $299,830 $60,656 $1,287 $20,929 $3,535 $26,154 $412,391 $7,706 $420,097

2009

Cement 
business

Mineral resources 
business

Environmental 
business

Construction 
materials business

Ceramics & 
electronics 
business

Other Total Eliminations or 
corporate assets Consolidated total

Net sales:
(1) Net sales to outside customers ¥528,512 ¥83,275 ¥61,004 ¥102,339 ¥27,244 ¥69,460 ¥871,834 ¥— ¥871,834
(2) Inter-segment net sales 13,180 20,753 6,507 8,021 53 44,663 93,177 (93,177) —
 Total 541,692 104,028 67,511 110,360 27,297 114,123 965,011 (93,177) 871,834
Operating costs and expenses 538,937 102,332 63,670 107,937 29,617 110,296 952,789 (92,132) 860,657
Operating income (loss) ¥2,755 ¥1,696 ¥3,841 ¥2,423 ¥(2,320) ¥3,827 ¥12,222 ¥(1,045) ¥11,177
Assets ¥630,722 ¥142,591 ¥16,693 ¥104,844 ¥32,609 ¥281,797 ¥1,209,256 ¥(51,170) ¥1,158,086
Depreciation ¥33,082 ¥5,529 ¥444 ¥2,710 ¥1,703 ¥8,003 ¥51,471 ¥260 ¥51,731
Impairment loss ¥1,541 ¥450 ¥— ¥904 ¥— ¥266 ¥3,161 ¥— ¥3,161
Capital expenditures ¥38,702 ¥8,369 ¥306 ¥2,380 ¥1,198 ¥8,403 ¥59,358 ¥665 ¥60,023

(2) Geographic segments

2010

Domestic
(in Japan)

North
America Asia Other Total Eliminations or 

corporate assets Consolidated total

Net sales:
(1) Net sales to outside customers ¥615,865 ¥54,375 ¥51,922 ¥6,420 ¥728,582 ¥— ¥728,582
(2) Inter-segment net sales 5,850 0 3,030 2 8,882 (8,882) —
 Total 621,715 54,375 54,952 6,422 737,464 (8,882) 728,582
Operating costs and expenses 611,312 65,965 49,689 6,202 733,168 (8,159) 725,009
Operating income (loss) ¥10,403 ¥(11,590) ¥5,263 ¥220 ¥4,296 ¥(723) ¥3,573
Assets ¥951,417 ¥128,332 ¥125,671 ¥5,997 ¥1,211,417 ¥(56,160) ¥1,155,257
Net sales:
(1) Net sales to outside customers $6,619,356 $584,426 $558,064 $68,996 $7,830,842 $— $7,830,842
(2) Inter-segment net sales 62,880 0 32,564 19 95,463 (95,463) —
 Total 6,682,236 584,426 590,628 69,015 7,926,305 (95,463) 7,830,842
Operating costs and expenses 6,570,421 708,996 534,064 66,649 7,880,130 (87,689) 7,792,441
Operating income (loss) $111,815 $(124,570) $56,564 $2,366 $46,175 $(7,774) $38,401
Assets $10,225,897 $1,379,324 $1,350,722 $64,444 $13,020,387 $(603,610) $12,416,777

2009

Domestic
(in Japan)

North
America Asia Other Total Eliminations or 

corporate assets Consolidated total

Net sales:
(1) Net sales to outside customers ¥710,218 ¥95,307 ¥62,009 ¥4,300 ¥871,834 ¥— ¥871,834
(2) Inter-segment net sales 4,848 0 4,716 1 9,565 (9,565) —
 Total 715,066 95,307 66,725 4,301 881,399 (9,565) 871,834
Operating costs and expenses 711,054 93,518 61,509 3,838 869,919 (9,262) 860,657
Operating income (loss) ¥4,012 ¥1,789 ¥5,216 ¥463 ¥11,480 ¥(303) ¥11,177
Assets ¥1,023,786 ¥137,886 ¥114,962 ¥5,256 ¥1,281,890 ¥(123,804) ¥1,158,086

(2) As lessors

 Certain assets of the Companies including buildings and structures with 
aggregated acquisition costs of ¥65 ($700) as of 31st March, 2010 (¥626 
as of 31st March, 2009) were leased out, from which lease rental income of 
¥14 ($154) was recorded for the year ended 31st March, 2010 (¥43 for the 
year ended 31st March, 2009).

23. Derivative Transactions

Derivative financial instruments are utilized for the purpose of hedging 
exposure to adverse fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and 
interest rates. No such transactions for speculation or trading purposes were 
entered into.
 The Companies are exposed to market risks such as volatility of foreign 
currency exchange rates and interests rates, and use these derivative 
financial instruments to hedge the related risk effectively.  Accordingly, these 
risks are not material.
 Credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the counterparties to the 
derivative financial instruments may incur, but any such loss from such event 
would not be material because the Company enters into transactions only 
with financial institutions with high credit ratings.  The notional amounts of 
the derivative financial instruments do not necessarily represent the amounts 
exchanged by the parties and, therefore, are not a direct measure of the 
Company’s risk exposure in connection with derivative financial instruments.
 Summarized below are the notional amounts and the estimated fair 
values of the derivatives outstanding at 31st March, 2009 and 2010.

(1) Derivatives transaction (Not applied for hedge adjustment)

Currency related transactions
2010

Notional 
amount

Fair
value

Unrealized
gain (loss)

Notional 
amount

Fair
value

Unrealized
gain (loss)

(Forward exchange  
 Contracts) (Millions of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

 Sweden Clone ¥1,322 ¥(201) ¥(201) $14,209 $(2,160) $(2,160)
Total ¥1,322 ¥(201) ¥(201) $14,209 $(2,160) $(2,160)

Interest related transactions
2010

Notional 
amount

Fair
value

Unrealized
gain (loss)

Notional 
amount

Fair
value

Unrealized
gain (loss)

(Interest rate swaps) (Millions of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

 Receive/fixed 
 and pay/floating ¥500 ¥(0) ¥(0) $5,374 $ (0) $(0)

 Receive/floating 
 and pay/fixed 24,211 (652) (652) 260,221 (7,008) (7,008)

Total ¥24,711 ¥(652) ¥(652) $265,595 $(7,008) $(7,008)

2009

Notional 
amount

Fair
value

Unrealized
gain (loss)

(Interest rate swaps) (Millions of yen)

 Receive/floating 
 and pay/fixed ¥500 ¥(7) ¥(7)

 Receive/floating 
 and pay/fixed — — —

Total ¥500 ¥(7) ¥(7)

(2) Derivatives transaction to which hedging accounting is applied

Interest rate relation
2010

Method of 
hedging 
accounting

Hedging 
instruments Hedged items Notional 

amount
Fair

value
Notional 
amount

Fair
value

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Method of 
processing in 
principle

(Interest rate 
swaps) Long term 

and 
short-term 
loans payable

Receive/floating 
and pay/fixed ¥480 ¥(4) $5,159 $(42)

Exceptional 
treatment of 
interest rate 
swap

(Interest rate 
swaps)

Long term 
and 
short-term 
loans payable

Receive/fixed 
and pay/floating ¥2,400 ¥46 $25,795 $494

Receive/floating 
and pay/fixed ¥125,009 ¥(2,198) $1,343,604 $(23,624)

Exceptional 
treatment of 
interest rate 
cap

(Interest cap 
trading)

Short-term 
loans payable ¥30 ¥0 $322 $0

 Total ¥127,919 ¥(2,156) $1,374,880 $(23,172)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FINANCIAL SECTION

Taiheiyo	Cement	Corporation	and	Subsidiaries	for	the	years	ended	31st	March,	2009	and	2010

The	Board	of	Directors
Taiheiyo	Cement	Corporation

We	have	audited	the	accompanying	consolidated	balance	sheets	of	Taiheiyo	Cement	Corporation	and	consolidated	
subsidiaries	as	of	31st	March,	2009	and	2010,	and	the	related	consolidated	statements	of	operations,	changes	
in	net	assets	and	cash	flows	for	the	years	then	ended,	all	expressed	in	yen.	These	financial	statements	are	
the	responsibility	of	the	Company’s	management.	Our	responsibility	is	to	express	an	opinion	on	these	financial	
statements	based	on	our	audits.

	 We	conducted	our	audits	in	accordance	with	auditing	standards	generally	accepted	in	Japan.		Those	standards	
require	that	we	plan	and	perform	the	audit	to	obtain	reasonable	assurance	about	whether	the	financial	statements	
are	free	of	material	misstatement.		An	audit	includes	examining,	on	a	test	basis,	evidence	supporting	the	amounts	
and	disclosures	in	the	financial	statements.		An	audit	also	includes	assessing	the	accounting	principles	used	and	
significant	estimates	made	by	management,	as	well	as	evaluating	the	overall	financial	statement	presentation.		We	
believe	that	our	audits	provide	a	reasonable	basis	for	our	opinion.

	 In	our	opinion,	the	financial	statements	referred	to	above	present	fairly,	in	all	material	respects,	the	
consolidated	financial	position	of	Taiheiyo	Cement	Corporation	and	consolidated	subsidiaries	at	31st	March,	
2009	and	2010,	and	the	consolidated	results	of	their	operations	and	their	cash	flows	for	the	years	then	ended	in	
conformity	with	accounting	principles	generally	accepted	in	Japan.

Supplemental	Information
As	described	in	Notes	4	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	in	2009	the	Company	applied	ASBJ	PITF	No.	18,	
“	Practical	Solution	on	Unification	of	Accounting	Policies	Applied	to	Foreign	Subsidiaries	for	Consolidated	Financial	
Statements.”	

	 The	U.S.	dollar	amounts	in	the	accompanying	consolidated	financial	statements	with	respect	to	the	year	ended	
31st	March,	2010	are	presented	solely	for	convenience.		Our	audit	also	included	the	translation	of	yen	amounts	
into	U.S.	dollar	amounts	and,	in	our	opinion,	such	translation	has	been	made	on	the	basis	described	in	Note	5.

Tokyo,	Japan
29th	June,	2010

(3) Export sales

Export sales by the Company and its domestic subsidiaries, plus the sales of 
overseas-consolidated subsidiaries, for the years ended 31st March, 2009 
and 2010 are presented below:

2009 2010

Export sales and sales by overseas subsidiaries:
 North America ¥95,667 ¥54,486 $585,620
 Asia 68,966 63,092 678,110
 Others 17,591 16,584 178,247
Total (a) ¥182,224 ¥134,162 $1,441,977
Net sales of the Companies (b) ¥871,834 ¥728,582 $7,830,842

(a)/(b) 20.9% 18.4% 18.4%

Report of Independent Auditors
FINANCIAL SECTION
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Taiheiyo Cement Corporation

Head Office	 ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  · Daiba	Garden	City	Building,	2-3-5,	Daiba,	Minato-Ku,	Tokyo	135-8578	JAPAN

Date Established	 ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  · May	1881

Paid-in Capital	 ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  · ¥69,499	million

Fiscal Year	 ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  · From	April	1	to	March	31

Annual Meeting	 ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  · The	general	meeting	of	stockholders	is	normally	held	in	June	in	Tokyo,	Japan

Common Stock 	 ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  ·  · Authorized:	1,977,308	thousand	 Issued:	950,301	thousand
Number of Shareholders with
More Than One Unit of Shares 	 ·  ·  ·  ·  · 52,066	

Transfer and Register Agent	 ·  ·  ·  ·  ·The	Chuo	Mitsui	Trust	and	Banking	Co.,	Ltd.

Major Stockholders	 Stockholders	 Shares	held	(Thousand)	 Percentage	of	total	(%)*

	 The	Master	Trust	Bank	of	Japan,	Ltd.	(Trust	Account)	 53,227	 5.60

	 Japan	Trustee	Services	Bank,	Ltd.	(Trust	Account)	 52,034	 5.47

	 Nippon	Life	Insurance	Company	 31,618	 3.32

	 Mizuho	Corporate	Bank,	Ltd.	 31,523	 3.31

	 JUNIPER	 16,733	 1.76

	 Meiji	Yasuda	Life	Insurance	Company	 16,623	 1.74

	 Sumitomo	Mitsui	Banking	Corporation	 14,987	 1.57

	 Mitsui	Life	Insurance	Company	 12,097	 1.27

	 The	Chuo	Mitsui	Trust	and	Banking	Company,	Ltd.	 10,368	 10.9

	 The	Dai-Ichi	Mutual	Life	Insurance	Company	 9,918	 1.04

*Percentage	of	total	shares	issued.

Overseas Network

Taiheiyo Cement U.S.A., Inc.
	 2025	East	Financial	Way,	Glendora,	CA	91741,	U.S.A.
	 Tel:	+1-626-852-6200					Fax:	+1-626-852-6217

Taiheiyo Cement (China) Investment Co., Ltd.
	 3001	Room,	30F,	Full	Tower	NO.9	Dongsanhuanzhongroad,
	 Chao	Yang	District,	Beijing,	China
	 Tel:	+86-10-8591-1815					Fax:	+86-10-8591-1870

Taiheiyo Singapore Pte. Ltd.
	 16	Raffles	Quay,	#41-03	Hong	Leong	Building,	Singapore	048581
	 Tel:	+65-6220-9495					Fax:	+65-6225-5853

London Representative Office
	 C/O	John	Saunders,	10	Buckingham	Square,	
	 The	Quay,	Burnham	on	Crouch,	Essex	CM0	8AS,	U.K.
	 Tel:	+44-1621-784200					Fax:	+44-1621-784200

Vietnam Representative Office
	 Suite	801,	8th	Fl.,	Sun	Red	River	Building,	23	Phan	Chu	Trinh	Street,	
	 Hoan	Kiem	District,	Hanoi,	Vietnam
	 Tel:	+84-4-9330912					Fax:	+84-4-9330921

Bangkok Representative Office
	 5	Sitthivorakit	Building,	17th.	Fl.,	Soi	Pipat,	Silom	Road,	Silom,	
	 Bangrak,	Bangkok	10500,	Thailand
	 Tel:	+66-2-266-8741					Fax:	+66-2-266-8742

Taipei Representative Office
	 5F,	139,	Cheng-Chou	Road,	Taipei	103,	Taiwan
	 Tel:	+886-2-2557-8098					Fax:	+886-2-2553-9853

Hong Kong Representative Office
	 20F,	Tern	Centre,	Tower	1,	237	Queen’s	Road	Central,	Hong	Kong
	 Tel:	+852-2545-9987					Fax:	+852-2542-0474

Major Subsidiaries and Affiliates

CEMENT AND READY-MIXED CONCRETE
Chichibu	Taiheiyo	Cement	Corporation	/	DC	Co.,	Ltd.
Kokusai	Kigyo	Co.,	Ltd.	/	Myojyo	Cement	Co.,	Ltd.
Sanyo	White	Cement	Co.,	Ltd.	/	Tsuruga	Cement	Co.,	Ltd.

MINERAL RESOURCES
Abekawa	Kaihatsu	Co.,	Ltd.	/	Buko	Mining	Co.,	Ltd.
Chichibu	Mining	Co.,	Ltd.	/	Ishizaki	Co.,	Ltd.
Kansai	Matech	Co.,	Ltd.	/	Kansai	Taiheiyo	Minerals	Corporation
Kosyu	Saiseki	Co.,	Ltd.	/	Oita	Taiheiyo	Mining	Corporation
Okutama	Kogyo	Co.,	Ltd.	/	Ryushin	Mining	Co.,	Ltd.
Yuko	Mining	Co.,	Ltd.

ENVIRONMENT
Ichihara	Ecocement	Corporation	/	NACODE	Corporation
Tokyo	Tama	Ecocement	Corporation

CONSTRUCTION AND CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS
Asahi	Concrete	Works	Co.,	Ltd.	/	A&A	Material	Corporation
Chichibu	Concrete	Industry	Co.,	Ltd.	/	Clion	Co.,	Ltd.
Fuji	P.S	Corporation	/	Onoda	Chemical	Industry	Co.,	Ltd.	/	
Onoda	Chemico	Co.,	Ltd.	/	Taiheiyo	Materials	Corporation
Taiheiyo	Precast	Concrete	Industry	Co.,	Ltd.
Toyo	Asano	Foundation	Co.,	Ltd.

CERAMICS AND ELECTRONICS
Nihon	Ceratec	Co.,	Ltd.

TRANSPORTATION
Azuma	Shipping	Co.,	Ltd.	/	Chichibu	Railway	Co.,	Ltd.

OTHERS
Pacific	Systems	Corporation
Taiheiyo	Accounting	&	Financial	Services	Corporation
Taiheiyo	Engineering	Corporation	/	Taiheiyo	Real	Estate	Co.,	Ltd.

OVERSEAS ACTIVITIES
CalPortland	Company	(USA)
Dalian	Onoda	Cement	Co.,	Ltd.	(CHINA)
Jiangnan-Onoda	Cement	Co.,	Ltd.	(CHINA)
Kalahari	Dry	(Thailand)	Co.,	Ltd.	(THAILAND)
Nghi	Son	Cement	Corporation	(VIETNAM)
PNG-Taiheiyo	Cement	Limited	(PAPUA	NEW	GUINEA)
Qinhuangdao	Asano	Cement	Co.,	Ltd.	(CHINA)
Shanghai	Sanhang	Onoda	Cement	Co.,	Ltd.	(CHINA)
Shenzhen	Haixing	Onoda	Cement	Co.,	Ltd.	(CHINA)
Ssangyong	Cement	Industrial	Co.,	Ltd.	(SOUTH	KOREA)
Taiheiyo	Cement	Philippines,	Inc.	(PHILIPPINES)
Taiheiyo	International	(Thailand)	Co.,	Ltd.	(THAILAND)

Domestic Network

Taiheiyo	Cement’s	facilities	include	our	head	office	and	
Research	&	Development	Center,	8	branch	offices,	6	cement	
plants.

CORPORATE 
Data
As	of	March	31,	2010

Taiheiyo Cement Group 
Network
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